
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 25th October, 2023 

 
10.00 am 

 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 

Maidstone 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Wednesday, 25th October, 2023, at 10.00 am Ask for: Katy Reynolds 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: 03000 422252 

   

 
Membership (12) 
 
Conservative (8) Mrs R Binks (Chairman), Mrs S Hudson (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr D L Brazier, Mr N J D Chard, Mr P C Cooper, Mr D Robey, 
Mr D Ross and Mr R J Thomas 
 

Labour (1) 
 
Liberal Democrat (1): 

Mr A Brady 
 
Mr A J Hook 
 

Green and 
Independent (1)  

Mr M A J Hood 
 

 
Independent Member 
(1)  

 
Dr D A Horne 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

1. Introduction/Webcasting  

2. Apologies and Substitutes  

3. Declarations of Interest in items on the agenda for this meeting  

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2023 (Pages 1 - 6) 

5. Internal Audit Progress Report - Procurement & Contract Extension (Pages 7 - 14) 

6. Counter Fraud Progress Report (Pages 15 - 28) 

7. Verbal Update on the Review of the Financial Regulations  

8. Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 (Pages 29 - 62) 



9. Covert Enforcement Techniques Activity 2022-23 (Pages 63 - 82) 

10. External Audit Governance Review (Pages 83 - 104) 

11. External Audit Progress Report and Sector Update  

 To follow.  
 

12. External Audit- Pension Fund Audit Findings Report  

 To follow.  
 

13. Other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
Tuesday, 17 October 2023 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 



 
 

 
 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
  

MINUTES of a meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee held in the 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 14 
September 2023. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs R Binks (Chairman), Mr A Brady, Mr D L Brazier, Mr A J Hook, 
Dr D Horne, Mr M A J Hood, Mrs S Hudson, Mr D Robey, Mr D Ross and 
Mr R J Thomas 

 
ALSO PRESENT:  Mr P Oakford 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Ms Z Cooke (Corporate Director of Finance), Mrs C Head 
(Head of Finance Operations), Mr B Watts (General Counsel), Mr J Idle (Head of 
Internal Audit), Miss E Feakins (Chief Accountant), Mr Parris Williams and 
Miss K Reynolds (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
136. Introduction/Webcasting  
(Item 1) 
 
The Chair welcomed the new Members to the Committee. It was said that their presence 
at the meeting was understood as confirmation that they had undertaken the required 
training.  

 
137. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 2) 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Mr Chard and Mr Cooper. Mr Rayner was 
present as substitute for Mr Chard. 

 
138. Declarations of Interest in items on the agenda for this meeting  
(Item 3) 
 
Mr Rayner made a declaration as Deputy Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 
Traded Services. The General Counsel confirmed that there had been consideration of 
the potential conflicts of interest in relation to this substitution.   

 
139. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2023  
(Item 4) 
 
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2023 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chair. There were no matters arising. 

 
140. Election of Vice-Chair  
(Item 5) 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
1. Mr Rayner proposed, and Mr Ross seconded that Mrs Hudson be elected Vice-

Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee.  
 

2. It was agreed unanimously that Mrs Hudson be elected Vice-Chair of the 
Committee.  

 
3. RESOLVED that Mrs Hudson be elected Vice-Chair of the Governance and Audit 

Committee. 

 
141. External Audit Plan 2022/23  
(Item 6) 
 

1. Mr Paul Dossett and Mr Parris Williams introduced the report. The three 
significant risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address 
the likelihood of a material financial statement error were highlighted. These 
related to the valuation of land and buildings as at 31 March 2023; valuation of 
the net pension fund liability in the accounts; and the risk of management 
override of controls. Members were told that materiality at the planning stage of 
the audit had been determined at £43m. This was consistent with previous years.  

 
2. It was said that there were seven risks of significant value for money 

weaknesses. The risk assessment work for 2022/23 had identified two new risks 
of significant weakness, in addition to those identified in the 2021/22 Auditor’s 
Annual Report. The two new risks were ‘Governance – behaviours and culture’ 
and ‘Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness – statutory services in relation to 
Asylum Seekers’.  

  
3. RESOLVED to note the report for assurance. 

 
142. External Audit Progress Report and Sector Update  
(Item 7) 
 

1. Mr Parris Williams introduced the report which provided an update on the current 
progress of external audit work and a summary of emerging national issues and 
developments. It was highlighted that given the challenges facing Kent, it was of 
even greater importance that the Authority implements, and is seen to comply 
with, the recommendations of Internal Audit.  
 

2. RESOLVED to note the report for assurance.  

 
143. Internal Audit Progress Report  
(Item 8) 
 

Sue Chandler (Cabinet Member for Integrated Children's Services), Richard Smith 
(Corporate Director Adult Social Care and Health), Simon Jones (Corporate Director 
Growth, Environment and Transport), Kevin Kasaven (Director Children’s 
Countywide Services), Sharon Howard (Area Manager, West Kent), Michelle Vickery 
(Financial Assessment and Income Manager) and Peter Carey (Income Manager) 
were in attendance for this item.  
 
1. The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report which detailed the summaries of 

completed Audit reports for the period May – August 2023. The Head of Internal 

Page 2



 
 

 

 
 

 

Audit provided a brief overview of each summary. It was highlighted that the 
summaries in Appendix A included the highest proportion of Limited Assurances 
in an Internal Audit Progress report since at least 2019. There were five ‘Limited’, 
three ‘Adequate’ and two ‘Substantial’ assurance reports. In relation to ‘CA10-
2023 – LATCO Governance Arrangements’, it was highlighted that the Gen2 
lessons learned report had not yet been received by the Governance and Audit 
Committee. Members were told that, given the status of the Council’s financial 
arrangements, the findings of the ‘RB17-2023 - Compliance with Financial 
Regulations’ should be a major concern.  
 

2. In response to questions and comments from Members it was said that: 
a) In relation to ‘CS05-2023 - Social Care Debt Recovery’, the overall 

outstanding debt was £42.3m, with £7.9m secured. The debt recovery 
process had been improved in line with Section 69 of the Care Act and 
statutory guidance. Following a restructure there would also be Income 
Recovery Officers specifically working to improve the levels of debt. The 
Income Manager would provide the overdue social care debtor numbers 
outside of the meeting. It was confirmed that other local authorities were 
experiencing similar challenges in relation to social care debt recovery.  

b) Members requested that ‘Spending the Council’s Money’ be reviewed in 
response to the findings of the ‘RB16-2023 – Data Quality – LAS System – 
Risk of Overpayments’ audit. Members were assured by the Director of 
Children’s Countywide Services and the Area Manager that the service were 
taking the appropriate actions in response to the audit findings, including 
liaising with Commissioning and Finance colleagues. It was said that this was 
not a system-wide issue. Instead, it was an isolated incident that arose due to 
the change in portfolio holder. The Director Finance confirmed that an annual 
review was carried out on all the Council’s payment controls and a report 
could be provided to the Committee on these wider controls. 

c) In relation to ‘RB24-2023 - Property Disposals’, the Committee was reminded 
that non-Executive Members were only entitled to information that was 
necessary for effective scrutiny of decisions. The General Counsel would 
meet with the Director of Infrastructure to establish whether a register of 
property disposals could be provided to the Committee for assurance 
purposes, within the bounds of the local government transparency code 2015.  

d) It was confirmed that the action plan for improvement in response to ‘RB17-
2023 – Compliance with Financial Regulations’ included the delivery of 
bitesize workshops on the Financial Regulations and a more robust induction 
training provision following restructures. The General Counsel reminded 
Members that work was also being undertaken as part of the Annual 
Governance Statement 2021-22 actions to ensure widespread understanding 
of the Council’s written governance.  

 
3. It was agreed that the discussion and management response to the ‘RB21-2023 - 

Contract Extensions’ and ‘CA07-2023 – Procurement’ audits would be deferred to 
the October meeting due to technical difficulties.  
 

4. RESOLVED to note the Internal Audit Progress Report for the period May to 
August 2023. 

 
144. Internal Audit Annual Opinion  
(Item 9) 
 

Page 3



 
 

 

 
 

 

1. The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report which detailed the overall 
outcomes and key themes from Internal Audit work undertaken during 2022-23 
and the translation of these outcomes to the resultant annual opinion of 
“Adequate” on the Council’s systems of governance, risk management and 
internal control. The report also detailed the related performance of the Internal 
Audit service in delivering this work. It was highlighted that there had been an 
increase in the number of systems, processes or functions assigned a “Limited” 
assurance in 2022-23 to 35% compared to 9% in 2019-20. The findings of many 
audits identified issues of non-compliance which was said to indicate a need for a 
stronger financial 2nd line of defence within Directorates.  
 

2. The Head of Internal Audit commented that the Council faces many challenges 
and that is a factor in the type of findings of Internal Audit, however it was 
emphasised that level of significant findings should not be occurring. It was 
further emphasised that there is a need for stronger first and second lines of 
defence within the Council to prevent such issues arising and not wait to be made 
aware of such serious issues when the third line of defence (which includes 
Internal Audit) undertakes a review. 
 

3. In addition to core Internal Audit work, the team had undertaken additional tasks 
including the audit / certification of 56 grants. 
 

4. RESOLVED to receive and note this report as a source of independent 
assurance regarding the risk, control and governance environment across the 
Council, noting the outcomes from 2022-23 Internal Audit work and the resultant 
‘Adequate’ opinion to the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
145. Audit Risk Assessment  
(Item 10) 
 

1. The Chief Accountant introduced the report which summarised management’s 
responses to questions on the Council’s processes in relation to general 
enquiries of management, fraud, law and regulations, going concern, related 
parties and accounting estimate. It was said that the completion of the 
questionnaire had been delayed due to the to delays in finalising and signing off 
the 2021-22 Statement of Accounts.  
 

2. RESOLVED to consider and agree the management responses provided to Grant 
Thornton. 

 
146. Annual Governance Statement Update  
(Item 11) 
 

1. The General Council provided a verbal update on the revised timeline for the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). It was said that Members would be 
provided with a more detailed progress report on the 2021/22 actions alongside 
the draft AGS 2022/23 in October 2023. Members would be invited to an informal 
briefing on the AGS ahead of the formal committee meeting.   
 

2. RESOLVED to note the verbal update.  

 
147. Other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
(Item 12) 

Page 4



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
There were no matters arising.  

 
148. Internal Audit Progress Report  
(Item 13) 
 

1. The Head of Internal Audit introduced the exempt summaries of the ‘Cyber 
Security Patch Management’; ‘Assurance Mapping – Fraud & Error’; and 
‘Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards’ audits.  
 

2. In response to questions on the ‘Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards’ 
audit, it was agreed that the Director of Technology would be invited to provide an 
update to the Governance and Audit Committee.  
 

3. RESOLVED to note the Internal Audit Progress Report for the period May to 
August 2023. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



From:  Clare Maynard, Head of Commercial and Procurement 
 
To:   Governance and Audit Cabinet Committee 
 
Date:  25th October 2023 
 
Subject:  Progress Update against Internal Audit Reports CA07-2023 

(Procurement) and RB21-2023 (Contract Extensions) 
 
Classification: Unrestricted  

 

 
Summary: 
 
This report seeks to update the Governance and Audit Cabinet Committee on the 
progress made against the Management Action Plans that have been developed and 
are being implemented in response to the published Internal Audit Reports CA07-
2023 (Procurement) and RB21-2023 (Contract Extensions). 
 
Recommendation(s):   
 
Governance and Audit Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and note this report 
and the progress made following the initial presentation of the findings of these two 
audits and the planned actions shared and agreed with Internal Audit in August 2023. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 Between early and mid-2023, Internal Audit undertook two audits, which 

respectively considered the adequacy and effectiveness of the procurement 
arrangements in place to form a judgement on cross-Council adherence to KCC 
procedures (CA07-2023 – Procurement), and the compliance of contract 
extensions with the Council’s procedures (RB21-2023 – Contract Extensions). 
 

1.2 The Internal Audit reports subsequently produced were only able to provide 
Limited assurance on the above matters, although Good and Very Good 
prospects for improvements were provided following consideration of the 
Management Action Plans submitted in August 2023 by the Management Team 
of the newly formed Commercial and Procurement Division.  
 

2. Action being taken in response to CA07-2023 (Procurement) 
 

2.1 Audit CA07-2023 (Procurement) identified four issues, which essentially related 
to the inconsistent use of KCC’s contract management system, different 
approaches to the retention of procurement documentation, the absence of key 
performance indicators to measure compliance with procurement procedures, 
and the ability for the Council to monitor spend against specific contracts. 
 

2.2 Having considered the Management Action Plan submitted in August 2023, 
which acknowledged the small sample size for the audit but recognised the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



positive actions proposed, Internal Audit provided an opinion of Good in terms 
of the prospects for improvement against the issues that were identified. 
 

2.3 Since the above assessment was delivered, the Council’s new Commercial and 
Procurement Division, which was formally launched on 1 September 2023, has 
made good progress to begin addressing the issues identified. Critically, as a 
part of launching the new Division, senior Officers in the Division have 
completed an extensive series of briefings to Directorate Management Teams 
across the Council in addition to a presentation to the T200 Group (KCC’s 
middle management group), outlining the key provisions in KCC’s mandatory 
spending rules contained in the Constitution and Spending the Council’s Money. 

 
2.4 These presentations have included an emphasis on the requirement for 

Directorates to ensure that key procurement documentation and records of 
contracts at or above the value of £25,000 are captured in the Council’s 
contract management system, while being clear that the new Commercial and 
Procurement Division will support on the initial creation of those contract 
records. It has also been outlined that, as business partners to Directorates, the 
new Division will be positioned to scrutinise and work collaboratively across the 
Council to ensure the completeness and accuracy of those contract records. 

 
2.5 Additionally, the formation of the Sourcing Support Team as a part of the new 

Division has allowed the Council to develop an increased focus on the controls 
governing compliance with Spending the Council’s Money. The team are 
responsible for the creation of purchase orders and therefore offer a significant 
opportunity for challenge to practice before an order is created. To this end, the 
Division is currently undertaking an array of important activity, including: 

 
(i) The creation of new ‘smart forms’ to ensure that mandated practices are 

followed, and evidence provided, depending on what is being bought. 
(ii) Configuring all existing Knet How to Buy pages to reflect the mandatory 

category processes that must be followed, 
(iii) The development of the requisition form to include contract number so 

that we can monitor spend by contract and impact on thresholds, 
(iv) The introduction of a new buyer hierarchy to restrict purchase order 

creation to a logical total value-based approval structure, and 
(v) The introduction of Power Automate flows to support the supplier set up 

process, which will give an increased level of assurance. 
 

2.6 Alongside the above, the new Commercial and Procurement Division is taking 
forward the development of performance measures to assess compliance with 
KCC’s mandatory procedures relating to commercial and procurement activity. 
This will include ongoing monitoring of the level of engagement with KCC’s 
contract management system, the accuracy of records contained therein, and 
appropriately early engagement from Directorates with the Division’s 
commercial specialists to map and resource new procurement requirements. 
Additionally, there will be a logging of requested waivers to the spending rules 
and more regular reporting on identified non-compliance with the procedures. 

 
2.7 Finally, as a part of supporting KCC’s implementation of its new Enterprise 

Business Capabilities (EBC) system, the Commercial and Procurement Division 
will be exploring with the Council’s chosen provider the possibility of more easily 

Page 8



linking spend recorded in KCC’s future financial systems with specific contracts 
to allow for the better monitoring of adherence/variance from projected budgets. 
However, it should be noted that this is a technically complex piece of work that 
will run alongside the longer-term implementation of the new EBC system. 

 
3. Action being taken in response to RB21-2023 (Contract Extensions) 

 
3.1 Audit RB21-2023 (Contract Extensions) identified six issues, which 

predominantly related to extensions to contracts not always having been 
approved in line with KCC’s Scheme of Delegation, an inconsistent approach to 
the completion of contract change notices and consideration of relevant risks 
ahead of contract extensions, and an insufficient amount of time sometimes 
being allocated to properly consider an extension option versus re-procurement. 
It was also raised that there was no monitoring or reporting of which staff have 
completed and not completed contract management training across KCC. 
 

3.2 Having considered the Management Action Plan submitted in August 2023, 
which again appreciated the small size for the audit but acknowledged the 
promising action proposed, Internal Audit provided an opinion of Very Good in 
terms of the prospects for improvement against the issues that were identified. 
 

3.3 Since the above verdict was delivered, the Council’s new Commercial and 
Procurement Division, which was officially launched on 1 September 2023, has 
made good progress to start tackling the identified issues. As a part of 
launching the new Division, and the series of briefings that senior Officers in the 
Division have delivered to Directorate Management Teams and the T200 Group 
on the Council’s mandatory spending rules, it has been emphasised what the 
expectations are in contract management and prior to any contract extension. 

 
3.4 These presentations have included an emphasis on the necessity for Officers to 

ensure that contract changes are undertaken in line with internal procedures, 
including the Scheme of Delegation, public procurement regulations, and 
represent best value to the Council and residents. It has been highlighted that 
the new Division will play a key role as commercial business partners to the 
Council’s Directorates in helping to ensure that any such changes are 
completed in line with such requirements, particularly on KCC’s key contracts. 

 
3.5 Additionally, the new Division is taking forward the re-launch of one of KCC’s 

key informal governance boards – the Contract Management Review Group – 
to help ensure that the issues highlighted in this audit report are addressed. 
This group’s terms of reference are being updated to ensure that there is a 
clearer definition of its authority to focus on reviewing the Council’s key 
contracts, specifically at two key points in the life of the contract (mid-life and 
prior to any proposed extension). This will provide for strengthened checks and 
balances and opportunity to scrutinise practice prior to contract extensions. 

 
3.6 Finally, there will be a renewed focus on extending valued contract 

management training for Officers and recording participants on such training. 
This is planned for the Commercial and Procurement Division, which will 
provide commercial contract management advice and support to Directorates 
and in Directorates where named contract responsibility will typically reside. 
This will include extending accredited Government Commercial Function (GCF) 

Page 9



contract management training across the Council in addition to supporting the 
opportunity for commercial and procurement professionals within KCC to secure 
professional qualifications with the Chartered Institute for Procurement and 
Supply (CIPS), which includes a focus on contract management best practice. 

 
4. Conclusion 

 
4.1 Good progress has already been made since the initial presentation of the 

findings of these two audits and the planned action to the 14 September 2023 
meeting of the Governance and Audit Cabinet Committee. As the new 
Commercial and Procurement Division is fully established and embedded, the 
identified actions will continue to be progressed at pace. Further update reports 
will be provided to the Committee at regular intervals to ensure that Members 
are kept fully appraised and retain the necessary oversight and assurance. 

 
5.    Recommendation(s) 

 

Governance and Audit Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and note this report 
and the progress made following the initial presentation of the findings of these two 
audits and the planned actions shared and agreed with Internal Audit in August 2023. 

 
6. Contact details 
 

  Report Author: 
 

  Michael Bridger 
  Commercial and Procurement Standards and Improvement Manager 
  03000 410 110 
  Michael.Bridger@kent.gov.uk  

 
  Relevant Director/s: 

 
Clare Maynard 
Head of Commercial and Procurement   
03000 416 449 
Clare.Maynard@kent.gov.uk   
 

Page 10

mailto:Michael.Bridger@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Clare.Maynard@kent.gov.uk


F4. CA07-2023 – Procurement

Key Strengths
• Policy documents are appropriately detailed and make clear the mandatory 

principles and regulations on spending the Councils money to which all staff 

must adhere.  

• Guidance documents under the banner of "how to buy anything" set out in 

sufficient detail the complete process for procuring at various spend levels 

including what needs to be done by whom, approvals process, and how to 

request for support from the appropriate team within Strategic Commissioning. 

There are also additional supporting documents available to staff to provide 

further advice on matters that may impact procurement activity.

• Proposed revisions to the Council’s Contract Standing Orders “Spending the 

Council’s Money” have been presented at and approved by Governance and 

Audit Committee and County Council.

• Use of the Kent Portal for procurements over £25k enables a view of all current 

procurement activity in progress.

• A Contract Management System (CMS) is in use and is capable of recording key 

information regarding awarded contracts.

• The Procurement and Commercial team have undertaken activity to review the 

CMS for records completeness and communicate with departments where 

information is found to be missing or out of date.

• Management Information packs are produced for Corporate Management Team 

(CMT) providing information regarding current procurement activity by 

Directorate. 

• Cantium accounts payable procedures require that Invoices are not paid without 

a valid associated Purchase Order.

• The £25k plus purchase requisition procedure includes checks to ensure that 

Purchase Orders are linked to contracts and that notices of contracts awarded 

have been published.

Areas for Development

• At the time of audit, some services have direct access to the CMS system to add 

contract records themselves whilst others will have records added by the 

Commercial Team on their behalf. Perceptions across departments as to what 

constitutes a contract is likely to be impacting on what is being added to the 

CMS and assurance cannot be provided that all contracts are being added or 

that records being input are accurate. Medium

• The CMS system can store related contract information documents however, 

this functionality is not currently used. Individual teams store tender, scoring and 

contract documents in their own areas. Medium

• Sample testing identified that, for some procurements, not all documents had 

been retained and stored consistently in one central location. Medium

• There are currently no monitored central KPI’s in relation to adherence to 

procurement procedures, the recording of contracts or storage of associated 

documents. High

• Ongoing contract management including operational and commercial 

performance is the responsibility of the assigned contract manager or team, 

each contract is therefore managed on an individual basis. There are no 

universal KPI’s in relation to performance. High

• Oracle system does not have capacity to record contract numbers or values, 

subsequently automated tracking of spend against contracts as PO’s are raised 

and invoices processed is not possible. Reliance is placed on individual contract 

owners monitoring of PO’s being raised against contracts. High 

• The £25k plus procedure for raising Purchase Orders does include the 

Commercial and Procurement Team verifying that procurement procedures have 

been followed, and that the Purchase Requisition is linked to a contract, however 

the procedure for generating Purchase Orders for less than £25k is less robust 

and assurance cannot be provided that all Purchase Orders raised are linked to 

current or valid contracts. High

• Internal Audit have identified from other areas of activity, procurements that have 

not been compliant with documented procurement procedures, either through 

the failure to go out to tender or failure to obtain relevant sign off for a single 

source tender. This has not been raised as an issue in this report as it has been 

covered separately in other audit engagements.

Audit Opinion LIMITED

Prospects for Improvement GOOD

Introduction & Key 
Messages

2022/23 Internal Audit 
Plan

Under the Spotlight 

Appendix A - 
Summaries

Appendix B – 2022/23 
Internal Audit Plan 

Status

Appendix D - 
Definitions

Section Navigation

Issue Implementation

Appendix C– 
Implementation of Agreed 

Management Actions

P
age 11



F4. CA07-2023 –Procurement

Prospects for Improvement

Our overall opinion of Good for Prospects for Improvement is based on the following 

factors:

• Appropriate management responses and action plans have been developed in 

response to the issues raised. 

• The new Commercial and Procurement Division, and the revised rules for 

procurement and contracting enable a greater emphasis to be placed on record 

keeping and contract management activities. 

• Consideration is being given to the automation of some processes as part of the 

planned implementation of the new Enterprise Business Capabilities (EBC) 

system. 

Summary of Management Responses

No. of Issues 
Raised

Mgt Action Plan 
Developed

Risk Accepted & 
No Action 
Proposed

High Risk 2 2 NA

Medium Risk 2 2 NA

Low Risk 0 0 NA

Introduction & Key 
Messages

2022/23 Internal Audit 
Plan

Under the Spotlight 

Appendix A - 
Summaries

Appendix B – 2022/23 
Internal Audit Plan 

Status

Appendix D - 
Definitions

Section Navigation

Issue Implementation

Appendix C– 
Implementation of Agreed 

Management Actions

P
age 12



F6. RB21-2023 – Contract Extensions

Key Strengths
• Financial Regulations and Contract and Tendering Standing Orders 

include the strategic roles and responsibilities for managing and signing 

contracts. 

• There is a Commissioning Handbook in place, which includes guidance on 

managing contracts including contract variations/extensions and was 

approved by the Corporate Management Team. 

• There is contract management training, including contract 

variations/extensions, for those involved in managing contracts. 

• There is an approved Scheme of Delegation for approving contract 

variations, including contract extensions. 

Areas for Development
• Testing found that 60% of contract extensions had been approved in 

accordance with the Scheme of Delegation Matrix however the remaining 

40% had not been approved in accordance with the Matrix (approved by 

Directors however, this should have been undertaken by Corporate 

Directors). High

• Testing found that the contract extensions risk assessment template was 

not routinely completed. For the 40% of the contracts (contract values 

£120m and £3.3m) where the template had not been completed, the 

contract extension risks were not identified, documented, and reviewed 

prior to the approval of contract extensions. High

• The information contained in the contracts register was not always up-to-

date and key information was not documented. High

• Testing found that for 80% of contract extensions the Contract Extension 

Change Control “CCN” template to approve a contract extension was not 

completed. Medium

• There is no monitoring and reporting of which staff have completed and not 

completed the Commissioning Standard Team’s contract management 

training. Medium

• Sample testing established that contract extensions’ review and decision 

dates to extend the original contracts were between 2 and 6 months in 

advance of the contracts’ end date. This did not allow sufficient time to 

enable a full re-procurement to be undertaken if this was required. Medium

Prospects for Improvement

Our overall opinion of Very Good for Prospects for Improvement is based on 

the following factors:

• Management have agreed with all the issues identified in this audit review 

and provided very detailed and comprehensive actions to strengthen the 

controls in managing contract extensions. Internal Audit are satisfied that 

these actions will be addressed appropriately by management.

• Management have provided realistic timescales to implement the actions 

required to control the risks identified.

Summary of Management Responses

Audit Opinion LIMITED

Prospects for Improvement VERY GOOD

No. of Issues 
Raised

Mgt Action Plan 
Developed

Risk Accepted & 
No Action 
Proposed

High Risk 3 3 NA

Medium Risk 3 3 NA

Low Risk 0 0 NA

Introduction & Key 
Messages

2022/23 Internal Audit 
Plan

Under the Spotlight 

Appendix A - 
Summaries

Appendix B – 2022/23 
Internal Audit Plan 

Status

Appendix D - 
Definitions

Section Navigation

Issue Implementation

Appendix C– 
Implementation of Agreed 

Management Actions

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

By:
  

 

James Flannery – Counter Fraud Manager 

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 25th October 2023 
 

Subject: 
 

COUNTER FRAUD UPDATE 
 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted 

 
Summary:  
This report details: 

 The Counter Fraud activity undertaken for the period of April 2023 to August 2023, including 
reported fraud and irregularities. 

 An update on the Counter Fraud Action Plan for 2023/24 covering reactive and pro-active activity. 

 
Recommendations:  
The Governance and Audit Committee are asked to;  

 

 Note the Counter Fraud Update report for 2023/24. 

 Note the progress of the Counter Fraud Action Plan for 2023/24.  

 

 
Irregularity Referrals – 01 April 2023 to 31 August 2023 

 

1.1 There were 174 irregularity referrals received for the reporting period of the 01 April 2023 to 31 
August 2023. This is higher than previous years, with the majority of the increase in referrals relating 
to blue badges and No Recourse to Public Funds, indicating greater awareness within these areas.   
The distribution and characteristics of the irregularities reported to date are shown in the graphs in 
Appendix A.   
 

1.2 There has been an actual loss of £83,898 within this period. All amounts are subject to recovery for 
the full amount due.  

 

 The majority of the loss - £62,916, was due to a social care provider continuing to invoice for 
services after the person had passed away.  

 There has been an actual loss of £11,605 due to pension payments being made to someone who 
had passed away with no next of kin.  

 A further £7,719 is due to salary overpayments caused by late notification by management.   

 There was a further loss due to a laptop being stolen by an ex-member of staff, which has 
subsequently been recovered by the Metropolitan Police and returned to the service.  

 

1.3 There has been a potential loss of £290,284 with the majority of this (£202,568) due to a build-up of 
Direct Payment funds within a child’s direct payment account and a failure to recover underspends 
over the past four years.  The majority of the remaining is due to the potential loss caused by the 
misuse of blue badges.  

 

1.4 Prevented total losses for this period are £246,603, again with the majority of this due to reclaiming 
the £202,568 sitting unused in a direct payment account.  The remaining prevented loss is due to 
the removal of blue badges.   
 

Supporting Living within Adult Social Care  
 

1.5 The Counter Fraud Team have completed an investigation into the way providers invoice and the 
way KCC pays providers within the supporting living contract.  The investigation was progressed 
following concerns being raised by social workers that several clients did not receive the level of 
care and support that had been commissioned.   

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.6 The investigation looked at care and financial records held by the provider (who are commissioned 
in the region of £500,000 per year) to support the invoicing to KCC, and how reconciliation between 
the invoice and care being delivered is controlled within KCC.  The review identified: 

 

 There was no link between the care being delivered and the invoicing within the provider, therefore 
invoicing against what had been commissioned rather than what had been actually delivered; 

 The level of care being recorded by the provider was inconsistent and not recording all the care 
being delivered within the client contact records; 

 The number of care hours was at a level to deliver the required care; 

 There is no requirement within the contract for providers to capture care delivered or to provide 
performance information on the percentage of care hours delivered against what has been 
commissioned; 

 There is no reconciliation occurring on the invoicing submitted, against the care being delivered, 
this is due to no requirement for providers to provide supporting evidence when invoicing. 
Subsequently, it was concluded that a key financial control is not in place. 

 

1.7 The above issues have been reported back to management, which have been accepted with relevant 
management actions to address them. This will require a contract variation and engagement with 
providers to progress.  There has also been full cooperation from the provider to improve their 
process to ensure that the invoicing is against what has been delivered and not what has been 
commissioned.  

 
East Kent Opportunities 
 

1.8 Following a no assurance report issued by Thanet District Council on East Kent Opportunities (EKO), 
a review of financial and procurement arrangements at KCC has been completed.   This has 
identified: 
 

 The procurement of consultancy services by Economic Development has not followed any formal 
procurement processes with around £850,000 spent on consultancy services over the past 12 
years.  

 There is no contract in place with the consultancy service, despite this being raised over two years 
ago. 

 There is a lack of metrics to inform the performance of the regeneration project.  
 

1.9 Management (who have recently inherited this responsibility) have accepted the issues and provided 
relevant management actions to ensure compliance with the financial and procurement regulations.  

 

Blue Badges 

1.10 Proactive and reactive work continues to address the risk of blue badge misuse across Kent.  During 
this period, there has been engagement with the County’s Parking Managers to continue raising 
awareness of blue badge misuse.  Enforcement days are being planned and delivered with others 
expected by the end of October 2023.  

 

1.11 The Counter Fraud Team has received 116 blue badge referrals within the reporting period with 113 
being received from District/ Borough Parking Teams.  From the 116 referrals, this has resulted in 
52 warning letters being issued, 11 closed due to insufficient evidence, one caution, 22 cases closed 
with no further action, two closed referred to partnering agencies and 28 cases open for further 
investigation.  There has also been 86 Penalty Charge Notices issued by Parking Enforcement 
Teams. 

 

1.12 There has been a successful prosecution of a blue badge misuse case that occurred in Gravesend. 
The person received a two-year conditional discharge, £35 victim surcharge and ordered to pay the 
full legal and investigation costs of £1,963.  
 

Page 16



 

1.13 Referral rates from District/Borough Councils continue to be mixed across the county and work 
continues to support parking teams in conducting effective enforcement action.  Further enforcement 
days are in progress.  

 

Table 1: Blue badge referrals by district/borough councils  
 

Parking Enforcement 
Area  

Referral numbers – 
Apr 23 to Aug 23 

Parking Enforcement Area Referral numbers – 
Apr 23 to Aug 23 

Ashford BC 37 Maidstone BC 14 

Canterbury CC 12 Sevenoaks DC 3 

Dartford BC 2 Swale BC 14 

Dover DC 3 Thanet DC 3 

Folkestone & Hythe 
BC 

0 Tonbridge and Malling BC 2 

Gravesham  21 Tunbridge Wells BC 2 

 
 
No Recourse to Public Funds 
 

1.14 The Counter Fraud Team supports the CYPE Directorate in conducting verification checks on those 
seeking support due to being destitute and having children.  The Counter Fraud Team have received 
nine referrals within this reporting period.  
 

1.15 The Counter Fraud Team are monitoring referral rates and working with CYPE to ensure that 
relevant information is captured at point of contact, the process is as efficient as possible, and 
resources are in place to meet any increase in demand.   

 

National Fraud Initiative 

1.16 The matches for the biennial National Fraud Initiative exercise have been released. Appendix B 
provides details of types of reports released and number of matches.  This shows a considerable 
number (30,002) of matches to be cleared, these will be cleared according to their risk rating, with 
high and medium level matches taking priority.  Sample testing of low-risk matches will occur to 
determine if the cost/ benefit of reviewing these matches.     
 

1.17 Match 172.1 Blue Badge to deceased data has been completed.  The Cabinet Office applies an 
estimated saving of £650 for every cancelled badge, from 2887 matches received, 338 badges have 
been cancelled that were not already known about with an estimated saving of £219,700. 

 

1.18 There are a number of cases that are with management/HR to investigate in relation to the payroll 
to payroll matches. Due to the process involved, these will take time to resolve.  

 

1.19 Historically, there has been a number of false positives in the data matching (a false positive is where 
the conditions of the match has been met but due to data quality the condition is not realised).  These 
are most common within the creditor data that has been received. Sample testing will determine the 
value of progressing of these matches against the resources needed to clear them.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



 

 
 

Kent Intelligence Network (KIN) 
 
1.20 The KIN continues to provide valuable support to the District/Borough Councils and the 

outcomes for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 Jun 2023, set out below, show the results and 
financial returns achieved. 

 

 
 
1.21 61 commercial properties have been identified that were previously missing from the rating 

list. These properties have now been brought into the list by the Valuation Office Agency 
and, consequently, the businesses occupying these properties are now liable for business 
rates.  
 

1.22 The additional business rates revenue generated from the identification of these missing 
properties is £2,096,749 (£2,123,862 including Medway), of which broadly 9% (£188,707) 
comes to KCC, is a combination of the following: 
 

 The total amount of business rates billed for both the current financial year and previous financial 
years of £1,276,317 (£1,294,298 including Medway); and 

 A ‘future loss prevention’ provision of 3 years of £820,432 (£829,564 including Medway). This 
represents the amount of additional income that would have been lost if the respective properties 

Page 18



 

had not been identified by the KIN. 
 

1.23 It is also pertinent to highlight that on 30 June, there were 228 Business Rate cases with the 
Valuation Agency awaiting assessment/valuation, none of which are included in the figures 
stated above, and a further 304 cases which are currently under investigation by billing 
authorities. 
 

1.24 The KIN also helps to identify dwellings missing from the valuation list and so far, 11 
dwellings have been identified. 
 

1.25 The additional council tax revenue generated from the identification of these missing 
properties is £86,332, of which broadly 73% (£63,022) comes to KCC, is a combination of 
the following: 
 

 The total amount of council tax billed for both the current financial year and previous financial 
years of £29,746; and 

 A ‘future loss prevention’ provision of 3 years of £56,586. This represents the amount of additional 
income that would have been lost if the respective dwellings had not been identified by the KIN. 

 
1.26 It is also pertinent to highlight that on 30 June, there were 10 Council Tax cases with the 

Valuation Agency awaiting assessment/valuation, none of which are included in the figures 
stated above, and a further 21 cases which are currently under investigation by billing 
authorities. 
 

1.27 Dwellings added to the valuation list also help to generate additional New Homes Bonus 
(NHB) for both Districts/Boroughs and KCC. It is estimated that the 11 dwellings identified 
will generate £15,400, of which 20% (£3,080) comes to KCC.  
 

1.28 In respect of the £451,081 that has been traced from absconded council tax debtors, this 
will generate additional income for KCC, depending on the amount that is collected. Even if 
a bad debt provision of 30% is applied to the amount of debt brought back into recovery, 
KCC would broadly receive 73% of £315,756 and this would amount to £230,502.   
 

1.29 In total, the financial benefit to KCC from the initiatives and successes detailed above 
amounts to £485,311 for the first quarter of 2023/24. 

 

1.30 It is also important to highlight the investment made by KCC to help billing authorities 
achieve these outcomes. This investment is by way of an annual grant given to the 
respective billing authorities, the components for which are broken down as follows: 
 
- A grant of £352,646 for the provision of additional resources to help carry out KIN related 
work, and also to assist with non-KIN related initiatives that help to increase the tax base 
and rates base. 
 
- A grant of £19,710 towards a product that helps to trace absconded council tax debtors. 
 

1.31 Solely in respect of the KIN related work, the return-on-investment to date (April to June) is 
£112,955 above the annual cost of this activity.  
 

Counter Fraud Proactive Work 
 

1.32 The Counter Fraud Proactive Work delivered for period April 23 to August 2023 includes: 
  

 Fraud Awareness to East Kent Social Workers within CYPE; 

 Fraud and Forgery/ Counterfeit awareness to Client Financial Services within Finance ; 

Page 19



 

 Attendance at KCC Serious and Organised Crime working group; and 

 Attendance at Kent Fraud Panel meetings. 

Counter Fraud Action Plan 2023/2024 

1.33 Updates to the 2023/24 Counter Fraud Action Plan can be found at Appendix C. The balance 
between pro-active and re-active work continues to be a challenge within resource levels.  The 
Counter Fraud Team continues to challenge and support management in managing their fraud and 
error risks.  

 

Counter Fraud Resources 
 

1.34 There has been a successful recruitment exercise to replace a Counter Fraud Specialist and there 
is currently a recruitment exercise to replace a Counter Fraud Technician (TMBC Lead) position. 
 

1.35 The team compromises; 1FTE Counter Fraud Manager, 3FTE Counter Fraud Specialists, 2FTE 
Counter Fraud Technician, 0.8FTE Intelligence Officer and 1FTE Intelligence Assistant.  These 
resources are there to support not only KCC but as part of our shared services with Tonbridge and 
Malling Council, as well as our external clients. 
 

Conclusions 

1.36 Reactive fraud work continues to address the irregularities being reported, with lessons learnt being 
reported back to management where there has been a lack of control or a control failure.   There are 
instances where low level cases cannot be progressed due to resource pressures. 

Recommendations 

1.37 The Governance and Audit Committee are asked to: 
 

 Note the Counter Fraud Update report for 2023/24. 

 Note the progress of the Counter Fraud Action Plan for 2023/24.  

 

James Flannery, Counter Fraud Manager 

October 2023

Page 20



Page 7 of 14 
 

Appendix A: Fraud and Irregularity referrals April 2023 to August 2023 – Graphs 

 

 
  

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

Referrals by source

P
age 21



Page 8 of 14 
 

  

  

 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

April May June July August September October November December January February March

Number of referrals per month

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

P
age 22



Page 9 of 14 
 

 

Appendix B – National Fraud Initiative Outturn  

Report Title Description of match No of 
matches 

Current Status 

Pension/ Pension 
Gratuity/ Deferred 
Pension to DWP 
Deceased 
(52, 53) 

The purpose of the match is to identify instances where an occupational 
pensioner has died but the pension is still being paid 

388 In progress with pension service  

Pension to Payroll 
(54,55,78) 

To identify pensioners who may have gone back into employment that could result in 
an abatement of their pension 

436 Cleared no impact due to 
conditions of pension allowing 
for employment with no 
abatement.  

Payroll to Payroll 
(65,66, 67.2,68.1) 

To identify individuals who may be committing employment fraud by failing to 
work their contracted hours because they are employed elsewhere or are taking 
long-term sickness absence from one employer and working for another 
employer at the same time 

87 Open – Investigations 
continuing.  

Payroll to Creditors 
(80, 81) 

The match identifies instances where an employee and creditor are linked by the 
same bank account or the same address to identify employees with interests in 
companies with which your organisation is trading 

195 Open – Investigations 
continuing. 

Blue Badge to 
Blue Badge 
(170, 170.1, 172.7, 
172.8, 172.9) 

The purpose of this match is to identify people who may have committed fraud 
by obtaining more than one blue badge 

1,303 Open – Investigations 
continuing. 

Blue Badge to 
DWP Deceased 
(172.1) 

Individuals who have a blue badge have been matched to deceased records. This 
will identify cases where a permit holder has died, but the local authority may not 
have been notified 

2,887 Complete – Cabinet office 
applies an estimated saving of 
£650 for every cancelled badge 
338 badges cancelled that were 
not already known about. 
 
Total estimated saving £219,700 

Blue Badge to 
Amberhill data 
(303, 304) 

Identity fraud happens when fraudsters use a false identity or somebody else’s 
identity details to support their criminal and deceptive activities 

2 Open – Investigations 
continuing. 

P
age 23



Page 10 of 14 
 

Concessionary 
Travel Passes to 
DWP Deceased  
(172.2) 

Individuals who have a concessionary travel pass have been matched to deceased 
records. This will identify cases where a permit holder has died, but the local 
authority may not have been notified 

5,286 Completed – Cabinet office 
applies an estimated saving of 
£24 per cancelled pass.  
 
Total estimated saving £124,062 

Concessionary 
Travel Passes to 
Amberhill Data 
(306, 307) 

Identity fraud happens when fraudsters use a false identity or somebody else’s 
identity details to support their criminal and deceptive activities 

2 Open – Investigations 
continuing. 

Duplicate Creditors 
by creditor 
reference 
(700) 

Duplicates identified in this match suggest poor creditor management as the system 
has permitted a creditor reference to be used more than once 

27 Closed – no issues found.  

Duplicate Creditors 
by creditor 
reference, name, 
address, account 
number 
(701, 702, 703, 
707) 

Duplicates identified in this match suggest poor creditor management as the 
system has permitted a creditor reference to be used more than once 

1,200 Open – investigations 
continuing.  

Duplicate records 
by amount and 
creditor reference 
(708) 

This match highlights possible duplicate payments in excess of £1,000 that may 
have arisen as a result of poor controls or fraudulent activity by suppliers and/or staff 

17,374 Open – investigations 
continuing. 

VAT overpaid 
(709) 

This report identifies instances where VAT may have been overpaid 190 Awaiting review 

Duplicate records 
– creditors 
(711, 712, 713) 

This match highlights possible duplicate payments for the same goods/services but 
to creditors with different reference numbers, which may have arisen as a result of 
poor controls or fraudulent activity by suppliers and/or staff 

483 Open – investigations 
continuing. 

Procurement – 
Payroll to 
Companies House 
(Director) 

To identify potential undeclared interests that have given a pecuniary advantage 142 Open – investigations 
continuing. 

 

  

P
age 24



Page 11 of 14 
 

Appendix C: Counter Fraud Plan 2023/24 

Ref Strategy link Risk Area Activity Description Update 

CFT-01 Govern Corporate Fraud  Policy, Strategy 
and Risk Review 

Review each policy bi-annually, presented to CMT & 
G&A and once agreed to be communicated across 
KCC management via Kmail for managers. 
Expected policies to be reviewed: 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
Anti Bribery Policy 
Anti Money Laundering Policy 
Financial Regulations 
Whistleblowing Policy 
Spending the Councils Money   
To review any other policy that may have an 
inherent fraud, bribery & corruption risk 
 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
Anti Bribery Policy 
Anti Money Laundering Policy 
Whistleblowing Policy 
 
Above be reported to the January 2024 
G&A Committee 

CFT-02 Govern All risk areas to support 
the prevention and 
detection of fraud and 
corruption 

Relationship 
Management 
Strategy for 
Senior 
Stakeholders - 
Including Fraud, 
Bribery and Risk 
Assessments. 

Ensure that the culture which is supported by 
Corporate Management Team and Governance and 
Audit Committee is embedded throughout the 
organisation through Counter Fraud attendance at 
relevant meetings and focus groups. 

ASCH Supporting Living risk assessment plus 
management letter to raise issues. 
 

CFT-03 Prevent All fraud risk areas 
faced by schools to 
support the prevention 
and detection of fraud 

Proactive Fraud 
Exercise - 
Schools 

Create and deliver a communication strategy to 
provide Fraud awareness sessions to school finance 
staff, senior leaders and governors.  Including 
existing and emerging risks. As well as providing ad-
hoc advice  

Sessions booked for Autumn 23 and Spring 
24 

CFT-04 Prevent Blue Badge fraud risk Proactive Fraud 
Exercise - Blue 
Badges 

Provide regular communication to parking 
managers to inform them of latest guidance, what’s 
working well what needs improving, including the 
issuing of a quarterly newsletter.  
Provide enforcement awareness sessions to district 
CEOs.  

Parking Manager meetings attended to 
provide engagement and feedback. 
 
2 enforcement days in progress 
 
Q1 Newsletter issued.  

P
age 25



Page 12 of 14 
 

 

CFT-05 Prevent Social Care fraud risks - 
ASCH  

Financial Abuse 
Review 

To progress a review of the approach taken by 
ASCH safeguarding on addressing financial abuse 
against vulnerable adults.  

Support in place, challenge and support 
provided on a case by case basis, including 
engagement with Kent Police in progress. 

CFT-06 Prevent Fraud Risks – ASCH To deliver fraud 
culture work/ 
awareness 
sessions ASCH 

To create and deliver a communication and 
engagement strategy that meets the need of the 
Services in addressing fraud/ financial crime risks. 

In progress 

CFT-07 Prevent Fraud Risks - CYPE To deliver fraud 
culture work/ 
awareness 
sessions CYPE  

To create and deliver a communication and 
engagement strategy that meets the need of the 
Services in addressing fraud/ financial crime risks. 

In progress – Awareness session delivered 
to East Kent Social Worker teams.  
Fraud Awareness to East Kent Social Worker 
Team 
Risk Assessment and reporting 
requirements for overpayments within LAS 
payment system. 
 

CFT-08 Prevent Fraud Risks - GET To deliver fraud 
culture work/ 
awareness 
sessions across 
GET 

To create and deliver a communication and 
engagement strategy that meets the need of the 
Services in addressing fraud/ financial crime risks. 

In progress 

CFT-09 Prevent Fraud Risks - CED/ 
DECD 

To deliver fraud 
culture work/ 
awareness 
sessions across 
CED/ DECD 

To create and deliver a communication and 
engagement strategy that meets the need of the 
Services in addressing fraud/ financial crime risks. 

Awareness to Client Financial Affairs on 
fraud awareness and forgery/counterfeiting 
of documents.  

CFT-10 Prevent No Recourse to Public 
Funds 

Review of CF 
Process 

To review the guidance, forms, and controls in 
place to enable effective assessments of someone’s 
destitution.  
Review NRPF applications where these financial 
checks are required. 

In progress- review of process completed, 
new financial assessment form completed 
and passed to service for review and 
implementation.  
NRPF checks being completed 

P
age 26



Page 13 of 14 
 

CFT-11 Prevent All risk areas to support 
the prevention and 
detection of fraud and 
corruption 

Fraud 
Awareness 

Agile awareness sessions to be delivered in 
conjunction with emerging risks 

Bespoke engagement to: 
CYPE quality assurance 
Shared Lives management 
GET Economic Development Management  
 

CFT-12 Pursue Payroll 
Pension 
Blue Badge 
Concessionary fares 
Trade Creditors 

Progression of 
NFI Data 
Matches 

Coordinate the Council’s and its LATCO’s 
participation in the National Fraud Initiative, 
including the monitoring of matches being 
completed by the relevant team. 

In progress – See Appendix B 

CFT-13 Pursue Corporate Fraud Kent 
Intelligence 
Network 

Actively participate in the Kent Intelligence 
Network and develop data matching proposals to 
increase detection of fraud at KCC and across Kent 
authorities. 

In progress – update included in report.  

CFT-14 Protect Counter Fraud 
Profession 

Professional 
standards 

Engagement with the Cabinet Office on the Counter 
Fraud Profession 

Practitioners group updating standards. 
Onboarding Managers into profession being 
progressed. 

CFT-15 Protect All risk areas to support 
the prevention and 
detection of fraud and 
corruption 

Supporting 
Audit on 
specific audits 
where there is a 
fraud risk, 
through 
planning, 
fieldwork and 
reporting stages 
as required.  

Provide advice and support on key fraud controls in 
specific audits. 

In progress- Engagement plans reviewed. 

CFT-16 Acknowledge All fraud risk areas Reactive 
Investigations 

To manage and complete investigations into the 
financial irregularities reported to Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud.  Including criminal, civil and where 
needed disciplinary investigations.  Providing 
management with any areas of improvements 
needed to reduce the risk of fraud or error 
occurring again.  

In progress – outputs reported in main 
report.  

P
age 27



Page 14 of 14 
 

CFT-17 Acknowledge All fraud risk areas Data Analytics  Providing advice/ guidance and data analytical 
support in order to identify fraud and error 
occurring. 

Reviewed Supporting Living information to 
inform if data analytics can be used for 
reconciliation, data structure not in place to 
enable data analytics.  

 

P
age 28



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

By: Amanda Beer – Deputy Chief Executive 

To: Governance and Audit Committee 

Date:  

Subject: KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Summary: 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: 

This report provides a summary of the compliments, comments and 

complaints recorded by the Council. The report includes statistics 

relating to customer feedback received by the Council and a sample of 

complaints considered by the Ombudsman. 

 

The Committee is asked to note the contents of this report for 

assurance.  

                                                                                                                
                                                                                                                

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 This is the Council’s annual report on compliments, comments and complaints.  
 

1.2 Overall complaints volumes are up slightly this year, there were a number of key 
changes this year that drove complaints in a number of areas. These included Homes 
for Ukraine, SEND and changes to transport provision.  

 
1.3 For the purposes of this report customer feedback only relates to those comments, 

compliments and complaints received from members of the public and our external 
customers. It does not include internal feedback between departments or contractors.  

 
 

2. Progress in refining practices within KCC  
 
2.1 The customer feedback system has been in place for over 5 years, enabling us to 

breakdown data easily, understand trends and react to evolving issues.  
 
2.2 The Customer Feedback Forum meets monthly to discuss best practice, performance 

and system developments. This group supports each other with changes to the 
Customer Feedback Policy, discuss Ombudsman requirements and approaches to 
contacting customers regarding service changes.  
 

2.3 Although not relevant to the year 2022/23, there have been some changes that have 
been implemented since April 2023, which will change the way in which the Council 
works in regard to complaints handling. A team has been formed to manage feedback 
centrally, the focus of the team will be on clearing the backlog of complaints with a 
view to improving timeliness in the long term. In addition, the team will be focusing on 
providing good quality responses and consistency of service to our residents and 
service users. 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

3. Overview of Customer Feedback Received  
 
3.1 A compliment is an expression of thanks or congratulations or any other positive 

remark. (Internal compliments are excluded from this process). 
 
3.2 A comment is a general statement about policies, practices or a service as a whole, 

which has an impact on everyone and not just one individual. A comment can be 
positive or negative in nature. Comments may question policies and practices, make 
suggestions for new services or for improving existing services. 
 

3.3 A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, whether justified or not and however 
made, about the standard or the delivery of a service, the actions or lack of action by 
the Council or its staff which affects an individual service user or group of users. This 
is consistent with the definitions used by other local authorities. 
 

3.4 The following table gives an overview of the feedback received by KCC as a whole 
compared with the previous year.  

 
 
Table 1 – Feedback received by KCC compared with previous year 
 

Year 
Complaints 

(Stage 1) 
Comment Compliments 

Local Government 
and Social Care 

Ombudsman 
complaints 

2022/23 5580 273 1162  229 

2021/22 5210 285 1208 182 

Difference 370 -12 -46  47 

% difference 7% -4% -4% + 26% 

 

3.5 We saw an increase in the volumes of cases in 2022/23, there were a number of 
factors behind the increase in cases, these include the introduction of the Homes for 
Ukraine scheme, SEND Ofsted visit and changes to bus provision countywide.   
 

3.6 The nature of complaints and comments received during the pandemic, were in many 
cases different to previous years reflecting the decisions that needed to be made at 
the time. This has made it difficult to draw direct comparisons to previous years.   

 
3.7 There has also been significant backlog in responding to complaints in CYPE and 

Highways & transportation, which is impacting on both volumes and timescales.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 30



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 2 - Cases received at stages 1 (local resolution)  
 

Stage 1 

Adults 
Social 

Children Growth Strategic and 

Total 
Care 
and 

Young 
People 

Environment Corporate 

Health 
and 

Education 
and 

Transport 

Services 
(including Public 

Health) 

2022/23 958 1240 3231 151 5580 

2021/22 744 1049 3238 179 5210 

Difference 214 191 -7 -28 370 

% 
difference 

29% 18% <1% -16% 7% 

 

3.8 There were a number of changes to the way in which services were delivered in this 
year. This included changes bus provision countywide which will be reflected in 
Growth, Environment and Transport (GET) figures.    

 
3.9 Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH), saw a significant increase from the previous 

year there were remarked increase in Blue Badge complaints which were likely due to 
the number of renewals that were due in the year and subsequent delays in 
processing. ASCH saw increases across the board all of which contributed to the 
general rise in this directorate.  

 
3.10 Whilst Children, Young People and Education (CYPE) saw a significant increase in 

complaints overall. Much of the increase in cases here can be attributed to Special 
Educational Needs (SEN). Work is currently ongoing to reduce the backlog of 
complaints awaiting responses in this area.  
 

3.11 All directorates bar Strategic and Corporate Services (SCS) the increase in SCS in the 
previous year was largely attributed to the Council’s response to Covid with regards to 
operating asymptomatic testing sites, applying National Government guidance locally 
including communications and in some cases enforcement.  

 
3.12 In 2022/23 complaint volumes were lower but still relatively high for SCS as the 

directorate led on the Council’s response to the Homes for Ukraine scheme.  
 
3.13 Overall, we have seen a 7% increase in the number of complaints received at stage 

one. A breakdown of complaints received by division/service can be found in Appendix 
A.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 3 – Feedback received at Stage 2 compared with the previous year 
 

Stage 2 
Adult Social 

Care and Health 

Children, 
Young 

People and 
Education 

Growth, 
Environment 

and Transport 

Strategic and 
Corporate 
Services 

2022/23 14 220 160 30 

2021/22 0 140 145 15 

Difference 14 76 15 15 

% 
difference 

  54% 10% 100% 

*ASCH operate a 2-stage process with the Local Government Ombudsman acting as the second stage  

**Complaint that was handled under corporate complaints process and not under ASCH process 
 

3.14 We have seen a significant increase in complaints escalating to stage 2 within all 
Directorates bar CYPE, the majority of the escalations were in SEN where response 
times to customers have been particularly challenging this year. Where there are 
delays in responding to stage one complaints, there is usually an increase in 
complaints escalating to stage 2.  

 
3.15 Cases closed by Directorate at Stage 1 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

0 38
196

39

906
1119

3054

148

439

39

662

22
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Adults Social
Care and

Health Children Young
People

and Education Growth
Environment

and Transport Strategic and
Corporate
Services

Comment Complaint Compliment

Page 32



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 4 - Cases closed by Directorate at Stage 1 

 
 

 
Comment Complaint Compliment Total 

Adults Social Care and 
Health 

0* 906 439 1345 

Children Young People 
and Education 

38 1119 39 1196 

Growth Environment 
and Transport 

196 3054 662 3912 

Strategic and Corporate 
Services 

39 148 22 209 

Total for 2022/23 273 5227 1162 6662 

Total for 2021/22 285 5114 1208 6607 

Difference -12 113 -46 55 

% Difference -4% 2% -4% <1% 

*ASCH log informal concerns and feedback of this nature under other categories  
 
 

3.16 Case outcomes at Stage 1* 
 

 

*Number of cases closed will not equal the number received 

 

 

 

 

2952

1201

528 457

2947

1223

627

264

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Not upheld Upheld Partly upheld Resolved upon receipt

2022/23 2021/22

Page 33



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 5 – Stage one - cases not upheld, upheld, partly upheld and resolved upon 

receipt 

Stage 1 Not upheld Upheld Partly upheld 
Resolved upon 

receipt 

2022/23 2952 1201 528 457 

% 56% 23% 10% 9% 

2021/22 2947 1223 627 264 

% 59% 24% 12% 5% 

 

3.17 The number of cases upheld versus not upheld remains steady. With a 1 to 3% 
difference retrospectively.  

3.18 An example of a not upheld and partially upheld case.  

A not upheld example may include where a resident complains about KCC policy, but 
that policy had been through consultation, comments had been considered at 
committee meetings and a key decision had been made to implement the policy.  
 
Partially upheld cases will be where some elements of the complaint were not upheld, 
as in the example above but other elements, for example if they had cause to 
complain about staff behaviour and this was found to be upheld, then this would cause 
the overall complaint to be partially upheld.  

 
3.19 Case outcomes at Stage 2* 

 

*Number of cases closed will not equal the number received 
 
 

 

182

87

46

182

41
51

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Not upheld Upheld Partly upheld

2022/23 2021/22

Page 34



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 6 – Stage two – Not upheld, upheld, partly upheld, resolved upon receipt 

 

Stage 2 Not upheld Upheld Partly upheld Resolved upon receipt 

2022/23 182 87 46 0 

% 59% 28% 15% 0% 

2021/22 182 41 51 0 

% 66% 15% 19% 0% 

 
                                

3.20 There is a marked increase in the number of complaints upheld at stage 2, however 

79% of these were already upheld or partially upheld at stage 1 which demonstrates 

that in the majority of cases customers are exercising their right to escalate to stage 2. 

This may be because they were unhappy with the proposed remedies offered at stage 

1 or because they wanted to take their complaint further, either to stage 2 or 

Ombudsman. 14% of cases were overturned and the remainder bypassed stage one 

where conversations had already been going on.   

3.21 Table 7 below tracks the other types of feedback received by the Council including 

Member and MP enquiries and informal concerns compared with the previous year. 

Enquiries include Ask a Kent Librarian service requests which account for a significant 

proportion of the volumes received below.  

 
Table 7 – Volumes received for other types of feedback.  
 

 
Member/MP 

enquiry 
Enquiry (includes Ask 

a Kent Librarian) 
Informal 

Concerns  
Representation 

2022/23 2634 14708 247 0 

2021/22 1682 13364 208 10 

Difference 952 1344 39 -10 

 
 

3.22 There is a significant increase in Member/MP enquiries two high volume services 

(SEN and Highways & Transportation) are incurring substantial backlogs in terms of 

responses which often leads to frustration from residents who then contact their MP or 

local Members for assistance.  

3.23 A representation is a procedure for cases where a complainant wishes to complain 

about something eligible for progression through the statutory Children Act complaints 

procedure, but there is something else in progress which prevents them from having it 

accepted.  This would include a Section 47 child protection enquiries, legal 

proceedings, a Child and Family Assessment, Tribunal, disciplinary etc.   

Page 35



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 8 - Reasons for complaints this year 
 

 

Year 
Break-
down 

Communica
tions or 

Information 

Equalities 
& 

regulatory 

Not 
for 

KCC 

Policy 
and 

procedure 

Service 
failure 

Service 
Quality 

Service 
not 

provide
d 

Staff 
Condu

ct 
cause 

Value 
for 

money 

Impact 
of 

major 
incide

nt 

Issu
es 

with 
servi

ce 

Total 

22-23 

Total 794 205 62 1067 3 2131 718 197 32 5 171 5411 

% of total 
complaints 

15% 4% 1% 20% <1% 39% 13% 4% 1% <1% 4% 
 

21-22 

Total 900 239 81 1191 13 7   282 42 63 2667 5485 

% of total 
complaints 

16% 4% 1% 22% <1% <1%   5% 1% 1% 49% 

 

*Some cases will have more than one reason for the complaint 
 

3.21 During the pandemic it was also decided that a new category ‘impact of major incident’ should be added, the volume of these 

complaints has significantly decreased. We would expect these types complaints to decrease over the coming year.  

3.22 The biggest topic was ‘quality of service’ which accounted for 39% of cases. Table 10 shows the breakdown of the root 

causes of these complaints where they were upheld. This was newly added last year as previously the ‘issues with service’ 

topic did not give sufficient detail, that category was split into ‘Quality of Service’ and ‘Service not Provided’. 

 

P
age 36



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 9 – Breakdown of reasons for upheld* complaints by Directorate Stage one and two** 
 

Complaint reason 
Adults Social Care 
Services & Health 

Children Young 
People & Education 

Growth 
Environment & 

Transport 

Strategic & 
Corporate 
Services 

Total % 

Communications or 
Information 

46 113 66 18 243 20% 

Equalities & regulatory 5 12 8 2 27 2% 

Policy and procedure 74 29 82 2 187 15% 

Quality of service 54 185 211 14 464 38% 

Service not provided 15 122 68 5 210 17% 

Staff Conduct cause 7 7 35 6 55 4% 

Value for money 1 1 1  0 3 <1% 

Issues with service 3 7 34  0 44 4% 

Total 205 476 505 47 1233   

% 17% 39% 41% 4%     

*table only includes upheld complaints and not those partially upheld 
**some complaints will have multiple reasons as to why they were upheld 

P
age 37



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

4. Compliance with standards  
 

4.1 KCC is committed to acknowledging any complaints received within 3 working days 
and to provide the customer with a response within 20 working days. As a whole KCC 
responded to 75% of complaints within corporate timescales which compares to 77% 
the previous year. The KPI for complaints responses is 85%.  
 

4.2 This year services struggled with meeting deadlines for handling complaints within 
timescales. Staff have been reminded of the importance of keeping customers up to 
date and of meeting timescales. Performance has been challenging, particularly in a 
number of key areas of the organisation where there are already existing pressures 
such as SEN and where there were gaps in staffing for example Highways & 
Transportation. There has also been significant change in customer habits/behaviours, 
particularly due to financial pressures.  

 
4.3 This year, of those 25% that were not answered in timescale, 15% of the total number 

of complaints received, were not responded to within timescale as a result of either 
staff availability or workload. This reason significantly increases in those services 
where there is already pressure.  

 
Table 11 - Delay reasons  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

165

795

64
130

35

223

509

109
159

87

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Complex case Workload Sign off delay Staff absent More information
required from customer

2022/23 2021/22

Page 38



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 

Table 12 - Top five overall delay reasons 

 

Complex 
case 

Workload 
Sign off 

delay 
Staff absent 

or unavailable 

More 
information 

required from 
customer 

2022/23 165 795 64 130 35 

2021/22 223 509 109 159 87 

% of total 
complaints 

rec'd 
3% 15% 1% 2% 1% 

 

4.4 The above table shows the overall delay reason cited alongside the percentage of 

complaints that represents the number of total complaints received.  Workload is the 

most cited reason.  

4.5 In Adult Social Care, complex case is the primary reason for delay against KCC 

timescales. The team continue to work hard with the service to reduce the number of 

complaint responses that are delayed.  

4.6 The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 

(England) Regulations 2009 makes provision for customers and the complaints team 

to set the timescales for responding. This can be up to 6 months for the most complex 

of cases, and means that complaints will often not meet the 20 working day KCC 

standard. This is because an agreement with the customer has been formed to allow 

for more time to investigate and respond.  

4.7 In addition, Mental Health complaints have an agreed 30 working day response time 

when requiring a joint response from health services. This is reviewed regularly.  

4.8 Within CYPE this year, there has been a significant increase in workload cited as a 

reason for those delays. This is particularly evident in areas already under significant 

pressure such as SEN, where 467 cases closed were recorded as late due to 

workload. The impact of the Ofsted report and the revisit in October 2022 continues to 

be felt and a continual increase in referrals to the service, means that complaint 

responses are often delayed due to ongoing work pressures.  

4.9 In GET, there was a significant increase in workload and complex cases being cited 

as the reason for delay. This is partly due to the provision of buses across the county, 

not all of which were as a result of KCC but had an impact, nonetheless. The team 

responsible for managing responses were significantly impacted by staff absences 

and vacancies and therefore performance was lower than expected.  

Page 39



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 

Table 13 - Top three delay reasons by directorate 

Adults Social Care and Health  

  Complex case Workload Sign off delay 

2022/23 88 54 28 

2021/22 55 24 38 

% of total complaints rec’d by 
Directorate 

10% 6% 3% 

 
 
 

Children Young People and Education 
 

  Workload Sign off delay Complex case 

2022/23 467 31 25 

2021/22 241 63 56 

% of total complaints rec’d by 
Directorate 

42% 3% 2% 

 
Growth Environment and Transport 
 

  Workload 
Staff absent or 

unavailable 
Complex Case 

2022/23 271 107 50 

2021/22 226 120 109 

% of total complaints rec’d by 
Directorate 

9% 4% 2% 

 
 

Strategic and Corporate Services 
 

  Workload Sign off delay Complex Case 

2022/23 5 4 2 

2021/22 9 1 4 

% of total complaints rec’d by 
Directorate 

3% 3% 1% 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

5. Customer communications channels 
 

5.1 Information on ‘How to complain’ is available on our website and on our Complaints, 
Comments and Compliments leaflets. The public can provide feedback to the Council 
through a number of different channels including via our online form, phone, email and 
through Social Media.  
 

5.2 The breakdown below indicates by percentage which channel customers have chosen 
to communicate feedback (compliments, comments & complaints) during 2021/2022 & 
2022/2023.  

 
 
Table 14 - Channels used to communicate compliments, comments, informal concerns and 
complaints 
 

 Phone Letter Email 

Comment 
card/ 

Face to 
Face 

Online 

Contact via 
Corporate 
Director, 

Member or MP 

Other 

2022/23 13% 2% 33% 2% 50% <1% <1% 

Volume 969 133 2396 119 3598 10 13 

2021/2022 17% 3% 35% 2% 44% <1% <1% 

Volume 1160 189 2381 108 2992 11 14 

 
 

5.3 The above table shows that there has been an increase in the submitting of 
compliments, comments and complaints via our online systems.  
 

5.4 There is a significant proportion of complaints now being submitted via digital 
methods. 83% of feedback received is now arriving digitally either by email or via the 
online form.  

 

6. Compensation across all complaints received by KCC  
 
6.1 In 2022/23, £178,714.66 was paid in compensation, settlements, changes to the 

amount we charge and waived charges as a result of complaints to the organisation 
this includes;  

 

 £116,960.06 has been paid or waived as part of local resolution in Adult Social 
Care and Health. This figure also includes the adjustments to the cost of care 
provided. The service has adapted their processes to ensure that this information 
is consistently calculated and recorded as part of the complaint outcome.  

 

 £758.20 has been paid out for Growth, Environment and Transport. £20 Pensions 
reimbursement.  

 

Page 41



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 £60,976.40 has been paid out for Children, Young People and Education 
Directorate including Community Learning and Skills and Children Social Work 
Services 

 

 £63,926.40 of the payments above were made following Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman Decisions found against KCC.   

 
6.2 This is a decrease of £66,696.12 from 2021/22 when £245,410.82 was paid out in 

settlements or through waived charges.  
 
Table 15 - Compensation complaint reason chart  
 

 
 

Reason % 

Reimbursement 46% 

Waiver fee 28% 

Time and Trouble 14% 

Goodwill 8% 

Other reason 2% 

Refund 2% 

Distress and 
Uncertainty 

1% 

Cost of service 
supplied 

<1% 

Financial redress <1% 

Legal costs <1% 

 
 

6.3 It is important to note that monies paid out during the 2022/23 financial year may 
relate to complaints recorded in previous years. This is due to the time that elapses 

Reimbursement, 46%

Waiver fee, 28%

Time and 
Trouble, 14%Goodwill, 8%

Other reason, 2%

Refund, 2%Distress and 
Uncertainty, 1%

Cost of service 
supplied, 0% Financial redress, 0% Legal costs, 0%

Page 42



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

between the date the complaint was lodged and achieving resolution. This is 
particularly true of Ombudsman complaints.  

 

7  Levels of complaints to the standards committee (Member 
complaints)  

 
Complaints recorded in 2022/23 
 

7.1 During 2022/23 the Monitoring Officer has responded to 2 complaints of alleged 
misconduct of the breach of the Elected Member Code of Conduct.  
 
Table 16 
 

Number of Complaints 
  

2022/23 2021/222 2020/21 Outcome 

2 9 8 
No Action or resolved upon receipt. 
Dismissed by the Monitoring Officer 

0 0 0 Action taken by party 

 
 
 

8  The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman complaints 
review 2021/22  

 
Overview of Ombudsman  

 
8.1 In cases where a customer is unhappy with the responses received about their 

complaint from the Council they can exercise their right to involve the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO). The Ombudsman will 
investigate cases where a customer has exhausted the Council’s own complaints 
policy and feel that their case has not been appropriately heard or resolved.  

 
8.2 Each year, in July, the Ombudsman issues an annual review to each local authority. In 

his letter he sets out the number of complaints about the authority that his office has 
dealt with and offers a summary of statistics to accompany this.   
 

8.3 The annual review statistics are publicly available, allowing councils to compare their 
performance on complaints against their peers; copies of the Annual Review letter as 
well as any published Ombudsman complaints are issued to the Leader of the Council 
and Chief Executive to encourage more democratic scrutiny of local complaint 
handling and local accountability of public services. 

 
8.4 Decision statements made are published on the Ombudsman’s website six weeks 

after the date of the final decision. The information published will not name the 

Page 43



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

complainant or any individual involved with the complaint.  Cases in which the 
complainant, despite redaction of names, can be easily identified are not published.  

 
9  KCC Performance – Ombudsman complaints  
 
9.1 It should be noted that there will be discrepancies between the volume recorded by 

the Ombudsman and the authority. This is due to the Ombudsman recording 
complaints that it does not progress to Kent County Council, as it is able to resolve the 
issue at first point of contact, either through referring the customer to the Council or it 
is identified as out of jurisdiction.   
 

9.2 The Ombudsman has noted that the way in which they choose which complaints they 
will investigate has changed, leading to a higher number of complaints being upheld 
vs not upheld. The below is the Ombudsman’s explanation of the change.  

 
9.3 “Over the past two years, we have reviewed our processes to ensure we do the most 

we can with the resources we have. One outcome is that we are more selective about 
the complaints we look at in detail, prioritising where it is in the public interest to 
investigate. While providing a more sustainable way for us to work, it has meant that 
changes in uphold rates this year are not solely down to the nature of the cases 
coming to us. We are less likely to carry out investigations on ‘borderline’ issues, so 
we are naturally finding a higher proportion of fault overall. 

 
Our average uphold rate for all investigations has increased this year and you may 
find that your organisation’s uphold rate is higher than in previous years. This means 
that comparing uphold rates with previous years carries a note of caution. Therefore, 
we recommend comparing your authority’s uphold rate with that of similar 
organisations, rather than previous years, to better understand performance.” 

 
9.4 During 2022/23 KCC received a total of 229 decisions from the Ombudsman this 

included 62 referred back for local resolution. The full letter and Ombudsman statistics 
can be found in Appendix B.  

 
9.5 The level of complaints received by KCC for the size of population, volume of services 

and interaction is low. Each complaint provides an opportunity to learn from our 
customers and improve our systems and we need to focus on those complaints that 
are upheld to ensure that lessons are learned. 
 

9.6 The Ombudsman’s report noted that the national average upheld is 66% of complaints 
they investigated; this is down nationally from 71% last year.  

 
 

9.7 The average upheld rate for other County Councils has increased from 71% to 80%.  
Kent County Council’s average is 87%; this was an increase from last year’s 68% 
upheld. However, as noted in 9.3, the Ombudsman was expecting an increase 
following a change in the way cases are progressed.  
 

Page 44



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

9.8 In 8% of upheld cases the Council had provided a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the Ombudsman. This compares to an average of 6% in similar 
authorities.  
 

9.9 The Ombudsman found the highest proportion of complaints upheld nationally to be in 
Education and Children’s services, of 243 cases received by the LGSCO for Kent, 146 
were about Education and Children Services. Nationally 92% of complaints regarding 
SEN provision and EHC plans are upheld.  

 
 

10.  Public Report  
 
10.1 The Council received no public reports in 2022/23.  

 

11  Local authority report – Kent County Council 
 

 
11.1 For further information on interpretation of statistics click on this link to go to 

http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-
local-authority-statistics 

 
 
 
Complaints and enquiries received 
 
11.2 The following table examines the number of complaints received by the Ombudsman 

over the last three years against the LGSCO’s service categories.  
 
Table 17 
 

 
Adult 
care 

Services 

Benefits 
and 
Tax 

Corporate 
and other 
services 

Education 
and 

children’s 
services 

Environ
mental 

services 
 

Highways 
and 

transport 
Housing 

Planning and 
Development 

 
Other  

Total 

2022/23 67 1 4 146 5 19 0 0 1 243 

2021/22 55 0 3 96 7 20 0 1 0 182 

2020/21 56 0 4 79 5 9 1 1 1 156 

 
 
Decisions made 
 
11.3 The following table examines the number of complaints decided by the Ombudsman 

over the last three years and decision category given by the LGSCO.  
 
Table 18 – LGSCO complaint decisions  

 

Page 45

http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics


KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 
Detailed investigation 

carried out 
 

 
 

Upheld Not upheld 
Advice 
given 

Closed after 
initial 

enquiries 

Incomplete 
/ Invalid 

Referred 
back  

for local 
resolution 

Total 

2022/23 53 8 7 91 8 62 229 

2021/22 65 30 0 75 2 10 182 

2020/21 40 14 0 49 9 40 152 

 
11.4 The number of complaints heard at Ombudsman level reduced in 2020/21, however 

this is an anomaly as the Ombudsman did not investigate any new complaints during 
the first three months of the financial year due to Covid. The number closed after initial 
enquiries has increased significantly, these are cases where the Ombudsman has 
reviewed our responses and has decided not to investigate further.  

 
 

12 Ombudsman Complaints – Themes and Outcomes  
 

12.1 The following section examines some cases that were investigated by the 
Ombudsman. The complaint and the subsequent decisions are taken from the 
Ombudsman’s website where all decisions (in which the complainant cannot be 
identified) are published.  

 
Table 19 - Children, Young People and Education 

 
 

Upheld 
Not 

upheld 

Closed: out of 
jurisdiction/ no 

further action or 
withdrawn 

Premature Total 

Children Social Work 
Services 

4 0 25 8 37 

Kent Test/ 
School Admission 

appeals 
1 0 2 0 3 

Home to School 
Transport/ 

Free School Meals 
4 2 3 1 10 

Special Educational 
Needs 

29 0 12 29 70 

The Education People 1 0 0 0 1 

Community Learning 
and Skills 

0 0 0 0 0 

Page 46



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Total 39 2 42 38 121 

 
 

Children Social Care - Upheld example – 21 012 369 
 
Complaint 
 
1. Mr X complained that the Council: 

a. failed to address the impact of the faults found in the independent 
investigation of his complaint about children's social care and provide 
a suitable remedy; 

b. failed to carry out actions agreed at the end of the complaints 
process; and 

c. took too long to complete the complaints process. 
 

2. As a result he says he and his family have missed out on support they should have 
received. 

 
Outcome 
 
We find there were some flaws and delays in the assessment process that the Council 
has not fully recognised in its response to the complaint so far. The Council has 
agreed a further remedy. 
 
Education - Not upheld example – 22 009 075 
 
Complaint:  
 

Mrs M complains about the Council wrongly refusing her daughter travel assistance 
after the school she applied for closed and she chose a school which was not her 
nearest under its policy; as a result, this causes her stress and financial hardship as 
she now meets the cost of travel to school. 

 
 
Outcome 
 
We found no fault by the Council on Mrs M’s complaint about it wrongly refusing her 
daughter travel assistance. The Council correctly assessed her application, and the 
appeal panel correctly considered all the evidence submitted before deciding to refuse 
it. 

 

Education - Upheld example – 22 007 365 

Complaint  
 
Mrs X complained the Council failed to provide suitable alternative education when her 
son, B, was too unwell to attend school. 

Page 47



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 
Outcome 
 
We find the Council was at fault for failing to provide B with alternative education. This 
caused distress to Mrs X and B has been out of education. To address the injustice 
caused by fault, the Council has agreed to apologise, make symbolic payments and 
remind staff of the relevant guidance. 

 
 
  

Page 48



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

       Table 20 - Growth, Environment and Transport 
 
 

Upheld 
Not 

upheld 

Closed: out of 
jurisdiction/no 

further action or 
withdrawn 

Premature Total 

Environment, Planning 
and Enforcement 

0 1 3 1 5 

Growth and 
Communities 

0 0 2 0 2 

Highways, 
Transportation and 

Waste 
0 1 15 3 19 

Total 0 2 20 4 26 

 
Not Upheld example – 22 002 987 

 
Complaint: 
 
1. Miss X complains the Council: 

o Installed a bright LED light bulb in the streetlight across the road from her; 
o Expected her to pay for any shield to be fitted to the light; 
o Failed to understand the issue she raised. 

2. Miss X says the light from the LED bulb has caused her to have sleep problems 
which impacted her health. 

 
 
Outcome 
 
We do not uphold Miss X’s complaint about the Council’s installation of an LED light 
bulb in a streetlight outside her home and management of her complaint. The issue is 
now resolved, and no further action is required. 

 

 
Table 21 - Strategic and Corporate Services  

 

Upheld 
Not 

upheld 

Closed: out of 
jurisdiction/no further action 

or withdrawn 
Premature 

 
Total 

0 0 4 0 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 49



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Table 22 - Adult Social Care and Health 
 

Upheld 
Not 

upheld 
Closed: out of jurisdiction/no 
further action or withdrawn 

Premature 
Total 

14 3 25 6 48 

 
Not Upheld example – 22 010 647 
 
Complaint:  
 

Mrs X, on behalf of her adult son, Mr Y, complains the Council has refused to cover 
the cost of an increase in his care provider’s hourly rate, putting his current care 
package at risk. She says Mr Y’s mental health has deteriorated, causing the family 
distress and uncertainty. They are worried he will lose the bespoke support which 
has worked well for him for many years. 

 
Outcome 
 
We have not found the Council at fault for how it made its decision not to increase its 
direct payments for Mrs X’s son. 

 
 

Upheld example – 21 018 229 

Complaint:  

The complainant, who I am calling Mr X, complains the Council delayed the 
assessment of need for care and support. Mr X’s mother, who I am calling Mrs Y, has 
brought the complaint on his behalf. She says: 

o The Council knew about Mr X’s need for care and support in September 2020 but 
did not complete his assessment until May 2022; and 

o Because of the delay he missed out on the care and support he needed. 

Outcome 
 
Mr X complained the Council delayed the assessment of his need for care and 
support. We have found fault by the Council causing injustice. The Council has agreed 
to remedy this by apologising to Mr X and Mrs Y. 

 

 

13 LESSONS LEARNED 
 

13.1 Where the Ombudsman has made a decision against the Council, steps are taken by 
officers in the service to ensure that any lessons learned are applied across the 
service to improve the customer experience and avoid any further complaints of a 
similar nature.  

Page 50



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 
13.2 With regards to lessons learned across the Council, the following table shows a list of 

actions that have been recorded where they exceed 100 complaints.  
 
 
 
 
Table 23 - Top remedy actions  
 

Action taken Stage 1 

Formal apology 625 

Explanation 397 

Discuss at team meeting 242 

Provided service requested 193 

Arrange staff training or guidance 186 

Change or review communications 122 
 

13.3 Other actions taken include changing or reviewing services, a financial remedy and 
changing or reviewing policies or procedures. 
 

14 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
14.1 The Committee is asked to note the contents of this report for assurance.  

 
 
 
Report Author: 

Pascale Blackburn-Clarke 
Customer Experience and Engagement Manager  
03000 417025 
Pascale.blackburn-clarke@kent.gov.uk 
 

Relevant Director: 
Amanda Beer, Deputy Chief Executive 
03000 415835 
Amanda.beer@kent.gov.uk 

Page 51

mailto:Pascale.blackburn-clarke@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.beer@kent.gov.uk


KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Appendix A – Directorate overview of Customer Feedback Received  
 
Children, Young People and Education  
 
All Feedback Reported  

 
Complaints (Stage 

One) 
Comments Compliments 

Resolved Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
enquiries & complaints* 

2022/23 1240 38 39 121 

2021/22 1049 42 91 96 

2020/21 867 51 77 78 

 
 
The below table compares the number of complaints received in 2022/23 with those received in 2021/22 and 2020/21 
 

Service 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Specialist Children Service/Children’s Social Work Services 698 825  991 

Community Learning & Skills (was Adult Education) 24 46 81 

Education Services 143 176 155 

The Education People 2 2 13 

Total Complaints 867 1049 1240 

 

 
 

P
age 52



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Growth, Environment and Transport  
 
All Feedback Reported  

 
Complaints (Stage 

one) 
Comments Compliments 

Resolved Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
enquiries & complaints* 

2022/23 3231 196 662 26 

2021/22 3238 226 703 28 

2020/21 3585 252 750 15 

  
 
The below table compares the number of complaints received in 2022/23 with those received in 2021/22 and 2020/21 
 

Service 2019/20 2020/21 2022/23 

Environment, Planning and Enforcement 242 172 145 

Economic Development 1 4 4 

Highways and Transportation and Waste Management 3106 2791 2822 

Libraries, Registrations and Archives 236 271 260 

Total Complaints 3585 3238 3231 

 

 
 
  

P
age 53



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

 
 
Adult Social Care and Health 
 
All Feedback Reported  

 
Complaints (Stage 

One) 
Comments Compliments 

Resolved Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
enquiries & complaints* 

2022/23 958 0 375 48 

2021/22 744 0 375 55 

2020/21 754 252 512 53 

 
The below table compares the number of complaints received in 2022/23 with those received in 2021/22 and 2020/21 
 

Service 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Adult Social Care and Health 754 744 958 

Total Complaints 754 744 958 

P
age 54



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Strategic and Corporate Services   
 
All Feedback Recorded  

 
Complaints (Stage 

One) 
Comments Compliments 

Resolved Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
enquiries & complaints* 

2022/23 151 39 22 4 

2021/22 179 17 39 3 

2020/21 169 52 24 4 

 
 
The below table compares the number of complaints received in 2022/23 with those received in 2021/22 and 2020/21 
 

Service 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Finance  28 39 15 

FOI 3 13 15 

Gateways and Contact Point 33 64 41 

Strategy, Policy, Relationships and Corporate 
Assurance 

- - 34 

Insurance  1 0 11 

Infrastructure, Property and Total Facilities 
Management 

28 16 11 

Public Health 59 34 1 

Other 17 13 10 

P
age 55



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Total Complaints 169 179 151 

P
age 56



KCC Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 
 

 
Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23 

Appendix B 

 
Ombudsman Letter  
 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 
19 July 2023 
 
By email 
 
Ms Beer  
Interim Chief Executive 
Kent County Council 
 
Dear Ms Beer  
 
Annual Review letter 2022-23 
 
I write to you with your annual summary of complaint statistics from the Local Government and 

Social Care Ombudsman for the year ending 31 March 2023. The information offers valuable 

insight about your organisation’s approach to complaints. As always, I would encourage you to 

consider it as part of your corporate governance processes. As such, I have sought to share this 

letter with the Leader of your Council and Chair of the appropriate Scrutiny Committee, to 

encourage effective ownership and oversight of complaint outcomes, which offer such valuable 

opportunities to learn and improve.  

The end of the reporting year, saw the retirement of Michael King, drawing his tenure as Local 

Government Ombudsman to a close. I was delighted to be appointed to the role of Interim 

Ombudsman in April and look forward to working with you and colleagues across the local 

government sector in the coming months. I will be building on the strong foundations already in 

place and will continue to focus on promoting improvement through our work. 

Complaint statistics 

Our statistics focus on three key areas that help to assess your organisation’s commitment to 

putting things right when they go wrong: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find fault in an organisation’s actions, 

including where the organisation accepted fault before we investigated. We include the total 

number of investigations completed to provide important context for the statistic.  

Over the past two years, we have reviewed our processes to ensure we do the most we can with 

the resources we have. One outcome is that we are more selective about the complaints we look 

at in detail, prioritising where it is in the public interest to investigate. While providing a more 

sustainable way for us to work, it has meant that changes in uphold rates this year are not solely 

down to the nature of the cases coming to us. We are less likely to carry out investigations on 

‘borderline’ issues, so we are naturally finding a higher proportion of fault overall.  

Our average uphold rate for all investigations has increased this year and you may find that your 

organisation’s uphold rate is higher than previous years. This means that comparing uphold rates 

Page 59



with previous years carries a note of caution. Therefore, I recommend comparing this statistic with 

that of similar organisations, rather than previous years, to better understand your organisation’s 

performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for organisations to put things right 

when faults have caused injustice and monitor their compliance with our recommendations. 

Failure to comply is rare and a compliance rate below 100% is a cause for concern.  

Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority - In these cases, the organisation upheld the 

complaint and we were satisfied with how it offered to put things right. We encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and credit organisations that accept fault and find appropriate ways to put 

things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your organisation with similar authorities to 

provide an average marker of performance. We do this for County Councils, District Councils, 

Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

Your annual data, and a copy of this letter, will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s 

performance, on 26 July 2023. This useful tool places all our data and information about councils 

in one place. You can find the detail of the decisions we have made about your Council, read the 

public reports we have issued, and view the service improvements your Council has agreed to 

make as a result of our investigations, as well as previous annual review letters.  

Your organisation’s performance 

In last year’s letter we noted the difficulties we had dealing with your Council caused by late 

responses to investigation enquiries. I am pleased to report our experience has improved this 

year, with quicker responses to our enquiries and late responses now noted in around half as 

many cases than last year. Thank you for the efforts to improve your liaison with my office; I hope 

to see it continue in the year ahead. 

Supporting complaint and service improvement 

I know that complaints offer organisations a rich source of intelligence and insight that has the 

potential to be transformational. These insights can indicate a problem with a specific area of 

service delivery or, more broadly, provide a perspective on an organisation’s culture and ability to 

learn. To realise the potential complaints have to support service improvements, organisations 

need to have the fundamentals of complaint handling in place. To support you to do so, we have 

continued our work with the Housing Ombudsman Service to develop a joint complaint handling 

code that will provide a standard for organisations to work to. We will consult on the code and its 

implications prior to launch and will be in touch with further details. 

In addition, our successful training programme includes practical interactive workshops that help 

participants develop their complaint handling skills. We can also offer tailored support and 

bespoke training to target specific issues your organisation might have identified. We delivered 

105 online workshops during the year, reaching more than 1350 people. To find out more visit 

www.lgo.org.uk/training or get in touch at training@lgo.org.uk. 

 

Page 60

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training
mailto:training@lgo.org.uk


We were pleased to deliver an online complaint handling course to your staff during the year. I 

welcome your Council’s investment in good complaint handling training and trust the course was 

useful to you. 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Paul Najsarek 

Interim Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Interim Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 61



Kent County Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/23 

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

87% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
80% in similar organisations. 

 
 

53                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 

61 investigations for the period 

between 1 April 2022 to 31 March 
2023 

 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the organisation had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
100% in similar organisations. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 

51 compliance outcomes for the 

period between 1 April 2022 to 31 
March 2023 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An organisation with a compliance rate below 100% 
should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedy provided by the organisation 

  

In 8% of upheld cases we found 
the organisation had provided a 
satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
6% in similar organisations. 

 

4                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 

53 upheld decisions for the period 

between 1 April 2022 to 31 March 
2023 

 

87% 

100% 

8% 

Page 62



 

To:   Governance & Audit Committee 
   
From:   Clair Bell, Cabinet Member, Community and Regulatory 

Services 
 Simon Jones, Corporate Director, Growth, Environment & 
Transport 

 
Date:  3rd October 2023 
   
Subject: Report on use of covert investigative techniques surveillance, 

covert human intelligence source and telecommunications data 
requests carried out by KCC between 1 April 2022 – 31 March 
2023 

 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
FOR ASSURANCE 

 
Summary This report outlines work undertaken by KCC Officers on 

surveillance, the use of covert human intelligence sources 
(CHIS) and access to telecommunications data governed by 
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and 
Investigatory Powers Act (IPA) during the 2022/23 business 
year. 

 
Recommendations Members are asked to note for assurance the use of covert 

investigative techniques during the period and endorse the 
policy in relation to the use of covert investigative techniques. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The document sets out the extent of Kent County Council’s use of covert 

surveillance, covert human intelligence sources and access to 
telecommunications data.  The County Council wishes to be as open and 
transparent as possible, to keep Members and senior officers informed and 
to assure the public these powers are used only in a lawful, necessary and 
proportionate manner.  

 
1.2 To achieve transparency and in accordance with the Codes of Practice, an 

annual report outlining the work carried out is submitted by the Senior 
Responsible Officer (SRO) to an appropriate Committee.  The last report 
was submitted and approved by the Governance and Audit Committee on 
15th November 2022.   

 
2 What this report covers 
 
2.1 Covert Surveillance – Surveillance which is intended to be carried out 

without the person knowing and in such a way that it is likely that private 
information may be obtained about a person (not necessarily the person 
under surveillance).  Local authorities are only permitted to carry out certain 
types of covert surveillance and, for example, cannot carry out surveillance 
within or into private homes or vehicles (or similar “bugging” activity). 

 Page 63

Agenda Item 9



 

2.2 Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) – the most common form is an 
officer developing a relationship with an individual without disclosing that it 
is being done on behalf of the County Council for the purpose of an 
investigation.  In most cases this would be an officer acting as a potential 
customer and talking to a trader about the goods / services being offered for 
sale.  Alternatively, a theoretical and rare occurrence would be the use of 
an ‘informant’ working on behalf of an officer of the Council.  In such cases, 
due to the potential increased risks, KCC has agreed a memorandum of 
understanding with Kent Police.  

 
2.3 Access to communications data – Local authorities can have access to data 

held by telecommunications providers. Most commonly this will be the 
details of the person or business who is the registered subscriber to a 
telephone number or social media account. Local authorities are not able to 
access the content of communications and so cannot “bug” telephones or 
read text messages. 

 
2.4 In each of the above scenarios an officer is required to obtain authorisation 

before undertaking the activity.  This decision is logged in detail, with the 
authorising officer considering the lawfulness, necessity and proportionality 
of the activity proposed and then completing an authorisation document.  
 
After authorisation has been granted (if it is), in relation to surveillance and 
CHIS, the officer applies for judicial approval and attends a Magistrates’ 
Court to secure this. 
 
For surveillance and CHIS the approval document is then held on a central 
file.  There is one central file for KCC, held on behalf of the Corporate 
Director, Growth, Environment and Transport, which is available for 
inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPC). For 
telecommunications authorisations KCC uses the services of the National 
Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) to manage applications and keep our records. 
Authorisation for communications data requests is now not carried out by 
KCC managers but, by law, is undertaken by the Office for Communications 
Data Authorisations. KCC managers are required only to confirm that 
officers are seeking authorisation in the course of their duties. Any 
inspection of this type of approval carried out by IPC is conducted at the 
offices of NAFN. 

 
3 Covert authorisations carried out between 1 April 2022 – 31 March 2023 
 

Total number of authorisations granted for 2022/23 (figure for 2021/22 in 
brackets): 
 
Surveillance – 0 (2) 
 
Covert human intelligence source (CHIS) – 0 (1) 
 
Access to telecommunications data – 4 (2) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

4.      Purposes for which covert techniques used 
 
One of the telecommunications data requests was in relation to an 
investigation into the sale of a dangerous hair styler. It transpired that the 
seller is not based in the U.K. 
 
The second telecommunications request was in relation to an investigation 
into the sale of counterfeit goods and illegal vapes. This application did not 
elicit any information of value to the investigation. 
 
The third telecommunications request was in relation to an investigation into 
fraud linked a vehicle repair business. Parallel enquiries suggested that 
other, less intrusive means of achieving the desired outcome had become 
available and this application was, therefore, withdrawn before any data 
was provided. 
 
The fourth telecommunications request was in relation to an investigation 
into the sale of illegal vapes. This application did not elicit any information of 
value to the investigation. 
 

5.      Update on cases highlighted in last year’s report 
 

A case involving the supply of illicit tobacco was highlighted as being 
ongoing in last year’s report. This related to a wide-ranging operation with 
partners into an organised crime group (OCG) supplying illicit tobacco at 
various locations in Kent. Disruption tactics were used in this operation, as 
opposed to prosecution, meaning that quantities of tobacco were seized 
and closure orders for certain retail premises were secured by our District 
and Borough Council partners. The current intelligence picture suggests 
that this activity has been successful and the OCG is no longer functioning 
in this area. 
 
Two cases in last year’s report, one in relation to a motor trade fraud and 
one into a fraud linked to environmental claims, were described as being 
before the courts. These cases are still before the courts. There are 
significant backlogs of cases in the Crown Courts in Kent which are 
impacting on the delivery of justice in relation to these prosecutions. 
 
The final case highlighted in last year’s report related to illegal television 
streaming fraud. The report said that convictions had been secured but that 
sentencing was awaited. Two individuals received prison sentences. Billy 
Martin from London received 21 months and Darren Bough from Dover 2 
years. The trial judge described the defendants as ‘a couple of Fagins’ and 
explained that the matters were too serious to avoid custodial sentences. 
He said that the defendants’ actions ‘struck at the heart on online 
commerce’. 
 

6.      Reportable errors  
 

These are errors which are required, by law, to be reported to the oversight 
commissioners for either surveillance or communications data requests. 
The errors can include those made by KCC or those made by third parties 
including communications data providers. 
 

Page 65



 

There were no reportable errors during the reported period. 
 
 

7.      KCC Policy 
 

The statutory codes of practice which cover public authority use of covert 
investigative techniques require that the elected members of a local 
authority should review the authority’s use of these techniques and set 
policy at least once per year. 
 
Appendix 2 to this report is KCC’s policy.  
 
No changes have been made to this policy since it was last brought to this 
committee. 
 

8.      Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to note for assurance the use of covert investigative 
techniques during the period and endorse the policy in relation to the use of 
covert investigative techniques. 
 

 

Contact Officer 
Mark Rolfe 

Interim Head of Community Protection 
Tel: 03000 410336 
Email: mark.rolfe@kent.gov.uk 

Page 66



Page 1 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Kent County Council 

Policy in relation to the use of covert investigative techniques 

Contents  

Introduction  ..................................................................................................................... 2  

Policy Statement .............................................................................................................. 3  

Internet and Social Media investigations ……………………………………………………..4 

Obtaining Authorisation ................................................................................................... 5  

Duration of authorisations ................................................................................................ 5  

Reviews ........................................................................................................................... 6 

Renewals ......................................................................................................................... 6  

Cancellations ................................................................................................................... 6  

Central Register and Monitoring ...................................................................................... 6  

Training ........................................................................................................................... 7  

Planned and Directed Use of Council CCTV Systems ..................................................... 7  

Special Arrangements ..................................................................................................... 7 

Oversight ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Glossary .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Annex 1 – Surveillance forms ........................................................................................ 10 

Annex 2 – Covert Human Intelligence forms .................................................................. 11 

Annex 4 – Guidance on completing surveillance forms ................................................. 12 

Annex 5 – Guidance on completing Covert Human Intelligence forms .......................... 14 

Page 67



Page 2 of 15 

Version 8 

 

1. Introduction   

This policy document is based on the requirements of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) as amended, The Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012, The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 and the Home Office’s Codes of 
Practice for Directed Surveillance, Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS) and 
Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications data.  
 
Links to the above documents can be found at: 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/25/contents 
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf 
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf 
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/822817/Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf 

 
1.1 Surveillance plays a necessary part in modern life and law enforcement. It is used 

not just in the targeting of criminals, but also as a means of preventing crime and 
disorder. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) introduced a 
system of authorisation and monitoring of activities, to ensure that the rights of the 
individual were not unnecessarily compromised, in the pursuance of regulatory 
compliance. The Protection of Freedoms Act and Investigatory Powers Act have 
refined the system introduced by RIPA. 

 
1.2 Within the County Council, Trading Standards Officers may need to covertly 

observe and then visit a shop, business premises, website, social media page or to 
follow a vehicle or individual as part of their enforcement functions. During a visit or 
a test purchase situation it may be necessary to covertly video record a 
transaction, as it takes place. Environmental crime enforcement staff may also 
need to observe or record at places where illegal tipping or other similar crimes 
take place and access communications data when investigating such crimes.  
Similarly, KCC’s Internal Audit fraud investigators may need to carry out covert 
surveillance or acquire communications data when they are investigating a crime 
which they intend to prosecute using the criminal law. They need to use covert 
surveillance techniques as part of their official duties.  

 
1.3 Only those officers designated as “authorising officers” from the specified units or 

services are permitted to authorise the use of techniques referred to in RIPA.  
Trading Standards may use Covert Directed Surveillance, Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources and acquisition of communications data.  Environmental 
Crime enforcement team may use Covert Directed Surveillance and acquisition of 

Page 68

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/25/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/822817/Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/822817/Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf


Page 3 of 15 

Version 8 

 

communications data.  Internal Audit fraud investigators may use Covert Directed 
Surveillance and acquisition of communications data.  

 
1.4 Covert Directed Surveillance is undertaken in relation to a specific investigation or 

operation, where the person or persons subject to the surveillance are unaware 
that it is, or may be, taking place. The activity is also likely to result in obtaining 
private information about a person, whether or not it is specifically for the purpose 
of the investigation.  

 
1.5 Investigations may also require the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

(CHIS). These may be under-cover officers, agents or informants. Such sources 
may be used by the County Council to obtain and pass on information about 
another person, without their knowledge, as a result of establishing or making use 
of an existing relationship. This clearly has implications as regards the invasion of 
a person's privacy and is an activity which the legislation regulates. A CHIS (other 
than our own staff) would be used only rarely and in exceptional circumstances. 

 
1.6 The Investigatory Powers Act (IPA) also requires a control and authorisation 

procedure to be in place in respect to the acquisition of telecommunications data. 
The County Council needs to comply with these requirements when obtaining, for 
example, telephone or internet subscriber, billing and account information.  

 
1.7 In addition, the IPA put in place the Investigatory Powers Commissioner whose 

duties include inspection those public bodies undertaking covert surveillance and 
the acquisition of communications data and introduced an Investigatory Powers 
tribunal to examine complaints that human rights may have been infringed.  

2. Policy Statement  

2.1 Kent County Council will not undertake any activity defined within RIPA or the IPA 
without prior authorisation in the legally prescribed form.  

 
2.2 The Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport has been appointed 

as the overall Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) with responsibility for the use of 
covert techniques and, as such, has been given authority to appoint Authorising 
Officers for the purposes of RIPA (for surveillance and CHIS activities), a Senior 
Responsible Officer and “Made Aware” Officers for the purposes of the IPA (for 
access to communications data).  The Corporate Director is a member of the 
corporate leadership team currently called Corporate Management Team.  

 
2.3 The Authorising Officer will not authorise the use of surveillance techniques or 

CHIS unless the authorisation can be shown to be necessary for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder. 

 
2.4 In addition, the Authorising Officer must believe that the surveillance or use of 

CHIS is lawful, necessary and proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. In making 
this judgment, the officer will consider whether the information can be obtained 
using other methods and whether efforts have been made to reduce the impact of 
the surveillance or intrusion on other people, who are not the subject of the 
operation.  

 

Page 69



Page 4 of 15 

Version 8 

 

2.5 Applications for authorisation of surveillance or the use of a CHIS will be made in 
writing on the appropriate form (see Annexes 1 or 2 for example forms).  

 
2.6 Intrusive surveillance operations are defined as activities using covert surveillance 

techniques on residential premises or in any private vehicle, which involves the use 
of a surveillance device or an individual in such a vehicle or on such premises.  
Kent County Council officers are NOT legally entitled to authorise or undertake 
these types of operations. Operations must not be carried out where legal 
consultations take place at the places of business of legal advisors or similar 
places such as courts, Police stations, prisons or other places of detention. 

   
2.7 Public bodies are permitted to record telephone conversations, where one party 

consents to the recording being made and an appropriate authorisation has been 
granted. On occasions, officers do need to record telephone conversations, to 
secure evidence.  

 
2.8 It is the policy of this authority to be open and transparent in the way that it works 

and delivers its services. To that end, a well-publicised KCC Complaints procedure 
is in place and information on how to make a complaint will be provided on request 
being made to the Corporate Director or Authorising Officer.  

 
3. Internet and social media investigations 
 
3.1 On-line communication has grown and developed significantly over recent years. 

The use of this type of communication in the commission of crime is a recognised 
aspect of routine investigations. 

 
3.2 Observing an individual’s lifestyle as shown in their social media pages or securing 

subscriber details for e-mail addresses is covered by the same considerations as 
off-line activity. 

 
3.3 Staff using the internet for investigative purposes must not, under any 

circumstances, use their personal equipment or their personal social media or 
other accounts. 

 
3.4 KCC will provide equipment not linked to its servers for this purpose and will 

maintain a number of “legends” (false on-line personalities) for use in 
investigations. A register of all such legends will be maintained by the Trading 
Standards Service.  

 
3.5 Under no circumstances will a legend include personal details of any person 

known to be a real person, including their photograph, or a name known to be 
linked to the subject of the covert technique. 

 
3.6 A log will be maintained by the Trading Standards Service of the use of each 

legend. The log will include details of the user, time, date and enforcement 
purpose for which the legend is used. The log will be updated each time a legend 
is used. 

 

Page 70



Page 5 of 15 

Version 8 

 

3.7 It is unlikely that single viewing of open source data will amount to obtaining private 
information and it is therefore unlikely that an authorisation will be required. If in 
doubt, the investigating officer should consult a RIPA Authorising Manager. 

 
3.8 Where data has restricted access (e.g. where access is restricted to “friends” on a 

social networking site), an application for CHIS and, if appropriate, directed 
surveillance should be made before any attempt to circumvent those access 
controls is made. 

4. Obtaining Authorisation  

4.1 The Corporate Director will designate by name one or more Directors, Heads of 
Service, Service Managers or equivalent to fulfil the role of Authorising Officer (for 
the purposes of Surveillance and CHIS authorisation), Senior Responsible Officer 
and “Made Aware” Officer (for the purposes of access to communications data). 
The Corporate Director will cause to be maintained a register of the names of such 
officers.  

 
4.2 Where a CHIS is a juvenile or a vulnerable person, or there is the likelihood that 

the information acquired by covert surveillance will be Confidential Information (see 
Glossary), then the authorisation must be from the Head of Paid Service or, in his 
absence, a Corporate Director nominated by the Head of Paid Service to deputise 
for him. In the event of such circumstances, the KCC General Counsel will also be 
informed. 

 
4.3 Authorisations from the Authorising Officer for directed surveillance or to use a 

CHIS shall be obtained using the appropriate application form (see annexes 1 and 
2 for example forms).  Also see Section 12 in relation to CHIS. 

 
4.4 Applications for access to communications data shall be made using the system 

provided by the National Anti-Fraud Network.  
 
4.5 Guidance for completing and processing the application forms is attached 

(annexes 3 or 4). Guidance for use of the NAFN portal is published and updated 
on that website. 

 
4.6 If authorisation is granted by the Authorising Officer, the applicant, or a suitably 

experienced officer nominated by the applicant, will make the necessary 
arrangements to secure judicial approval of the authorisation in compliance with 
the requirements of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. This requires the 
applicant, or their nominee, to attend a Magistrates’ Court and seek an approval 
order. 

5. Duration of authorisations   

5.1 All records shall be kept for at least 3 years.  
 
5.2 A written authorisation (unless renewed) will cease to have effect at the end of the 

following periods from when it took effect:  
 

a) Directed Surveillance - 3 months  
b) Conduct and use of CHIS - 12 months   

Page 71



Page 6 of 15 

Version 8 

 

6. Reviews  

6.1 Regular review of authorisations shall be undertaken by the relevant Authorising 
Officer to assess the need for the surveillance or CHIS to continue. The results of 
the review shall be recorded on the central record of authorisations (see annexes 1 
or 2 for review forms). Where surveillance or CHIS activity provides access to 
Confidential Information or involves collateral intrusion, particular attention shall be 
given to the review for the need for surveillance or activity in such circumstances.  

 
6.2 In each case, the Authorising Officer shall determine how often a review is to take 

place, and this should be as frequently as is considered necessary and practicable.  

7.  Renewals  

7.1 If, at any time, an authorisation ceases to have effect and the Authorising Officer 
considers it necessary for the authorisation to continue for the purposes for which it 
was given, s/he may renew it, in writing, for a further period of: 

 

 three months – directed surveillance  

 twelve months – use of a CHIS  

  (see annexes 1 or 2 for examples of renewal forms) 
 
7.2 A renewal takes effect at the time at which the authorisation would have ceased to 

have effect but for the renewal. An application for renewal should not be made until 
shortly before the authorisation period is drawing to an end. Any person who would 
be entitled to grant a new authorisation can renew an authorisation. Authorisations 
may be renewed more than once provided they continue to meet the criteria for 
authorisation.  

8. Cancellations  

8.1 The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must cancel 
it if s/he is satisfied that the Directed Surveillance or the use or conduct of the 
CHIS no longer meets the criteria for which it was authorised (see annexes 1 or 2 
for examples of cancellation forms). When the Authorising Officer is no longer 
available, this duty will fall on the person who has taken over the role of 
Authorising Officer or the person who is acting as Authorising Officer.  

 
8.2 As soon as the decision is taken that Directed Surveillance should be discontinued 

or the use or conduct of the CHIS no longer meets the criteria for which it was 
authorised, the instruction must be given to those involved to stop all surveillance 
of the subject or use of the CHIS. The authorisation does not ‘expire’ when the 
activity has been carried out or is deemed no longer necessary. It must be either 
cancelled or renewed. The date and time when such an instruction was given 
should be recorded in the central register of authorisations and the notification of 
cancellation where relevant.  

9. Central Register and Oversight by Corporate Director 

9.1 A copy of any authorisation, any renewal or cancellation (together with any 
supporting information relevant to such authorisation or cancellation) shall be 
forwarded to the Corporate Director or a person nominated by them within 5 

Page 72



Page 7 of 15 

Version 8 

 

working days of the date of the application, authorisation, notice, renewal or 
cancellation.  

 
9.2 The Corporate Director shall: 
 

(a) ensure that a register of the documents referred to in paragraph 9.1 above 
is kept;  

(b) monitor the quality of the documents and information forwarded;  
(c) monitor the integrity of the process in place within the Council for the 

management of CHIS;  
(d) monitor compliance with Part II of RIPA and with the Codes;  
(e) oversee the reporting of errors to the relevant Oversight Commissioner and 

the identification of both the cause(s) of errors and the implementation of 
processes to minimise repetition of errors;  

(f) engage with the IPC inspectors when they conduct their inspections, where 
applicable; and  

(g) where necessary, oversee the implementation of post-inspection action 
plans approved by the relevant Oversight Commissioner.  

 

10. Training  

10.1 The Authorising Officers shall be provided with training to ensure awareness of the 
legislative framework.  

11. Planned and Directed Use of KCC CCTV Systems  

11.1 KCC’s CCTV systems shall not be used for Directed Surveillance, without the 
Corporate Director or other senior legal officer confirming to the relevant 
operational staff that a valid authorisation is in place. 

12. Special Arrangements 

12.1 The use of a CHIS can present significant risk to the security and welfare of the 
person.  Each authorisation will have a specific documented risk assessment and 
the CHIS (and all members of any support team) will be briefed on the details of 
the assessment.  Kent County Council has a Memorandum of Understanding with 
Kent Police for circumstances where the CHIS is not an employee or other agent 
working for or on behalf of the authority.  In other circumstances such as a member 
of public, “whistle-blower” or informant then Kent Police will handle the operation of 
the CHIS.  Kent Police will ensure the compliance with the Regulations, codes of 
practice and all other risks such as the security and welfare of the CHIS (and 
associated persons).  Any necessary and relevant information will be provided 
following best practise as to not risk identifying CHIS unless this is appropriate and 
approved by Kent Police.  In such cases, Kent Police are responsible for all 
records and monitoring processes.  

13. Oversight 

13.1 The Corporate Director shall ensure that this policy is reviewed on an annual basis 
by presenting a report of activity to the Governance and Audit Committee (or 
similar Committee).  There shall also be brief details of all activity under this policy 
provided to the Corporate Director and shared with the appropriate Cabinet 

Page 73



Page 8 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Member at such intervals between the annual reports as the Corporate Director 
sees fit. 

 
13.2 Every two years the KCC General Counsel will review the policy, and also contact 

the Corporate Directors responsible for all other units and services within Kent 
County Council to inform them of any changes or alterations.  The communication 
will also seek to highlight the details of the restrictions imposed by RIPA, the IPA 
and Human Rights legislation.  Should any unit or service (other than those 
permitted by this policy) consider that any actions it may have taken (or are 
considering taking) might infringe this policy, they must be raised with the KCC 
General Counsel as soon as practicable.  

 

Page 74



Page 9 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Glossary  

"Confidential information" consists of matters subject to legal privilege, confidential 
personal information, or confidential journalistic material.  
 
"Directed Surveillance" is defined in section 26 (2) of RIPA as surveillance which is 
covert, but not intrusive (i.e. takes place on residential premises or in any private vehicle), 
and undertaken:  

(a) for the purpose of specific investigation or specific operation; 
(b) in such a manner is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a 

person (whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes of the 
investigation or operation); and  

(c) otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or circumstances the 
nature of which is such that it would not be reasonably practicable for an 
authorisation under Part II of RIPA to be sought for the carrying out of the 
surveillance.  

 
"A person is a Covert Human Intelligence Source” if:  

 he establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for the 
covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything within paragraph (b) or (c);  

 he covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide access to 
any information to another person; or  

 he covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship, or as 
a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.  

 
“Communications data”, in relation to a telecommunications operator, 

telecommunications service or telecommunication system, means entity data or events 
data— 
(a)which is (or is to be or is capable of being) held or obtained by, or on behalf of, a 
telecommunications operator and— 
(i)is about an entity to which a telecommunications service is provided and relates to the 
provision of the service, 
(ii)is comprised in, included as part of, attached to or logically associated with a 
communication (whether by the sender or otherwise) for the purposes of a 
telecommunication system by means of which the communication is being or may be 
transmitted, or 
(iii)does not fall within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) but does relate to the use of a 
telecommunications service or a telecommunication system, 
(b)which is available directly from a telecommunication system and falls within sub-
paragraph (ii) of paragraph (a), or 
(c)which— 
(i)is (or is to be or is capable of being) held or obtained by, or on behalf of, a 
telecommunications operator, 
(ii)is about the architecture of a telecommunication system, and 
(iii)is not about a specific person, 
but does not include any content of a communication or anything which, in the absence of 
subsection (6)(b), would be content of a communication.  

Page 75



Page 10 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Annex 1 – Surveillance forms  

 
Application for Authorisation to Carry Out Directed Surveillance  
 
 
Review of Directed Surveillance Authorisation  
 
 
Cancellation of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation  
 
 
Application of Renewal of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation  
 
 
(Forms available at http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-
investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/ ) 

Page 76



Page 11 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Annex 2 – Covert Human Intelligence forms  

 
Application for Authorisation of the Use or Conduct of a Covert Human Intelligence Source  
 
 
Review of a Covert Human Intelligence Source Authorisation  
 
 
Cancellation of an Authorisation for the use of or Conduct of a Covert Human Intelligence 
Source  
 
 
Application for renewal of a Covert Human Intelligence Source Authorisation  
 
 
(Forms available at http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-
investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/ ) 

 

Page 77



Page 12 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Annex 3 - Guidance on completing surveillance forms  

Details of Applicant  
 
Details of requesting officer’s work address and contact details should be entered.  
 
Details of Application  

1. Give rank or position of authorising officer in accordance with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence 
Sources) Order 2003; No. 3171 

 Fill in details of Authorising Officer (see paras 3.1 and 3.2 of Policy)  

2. Purpose of the specific operation or investigation  

 Outline what the operation is about and what is hoped to be achieved by the 
investigation.  Indicate whether other methods have already been used to obtain this 
information.  Give sufficient details so that the Authorising Officer has enough 
information to give the Authority e.g. “Surveillance at Oakwood House and Mr. X”.  

3. Describe in detail the surveillance operation to be authorised and expected 
duration, including any premises, vehicles or equipment (e.g. camera, 
binoculars, recorder) that may be used  

 Give as much detail as possible of the action to be taken including which other officers 
may be employed in the surveillance and their roles.  If appropriate append any 
investigation plan to the application and a map of the location at which the surveillance 
is to be carried out.  

4. The identities, where known, of those to be subject of the directed surveillance  

5. Explain the information that it is desired to obtain as a result of the directed 
surveillance  

 This information should only be obtained if it furthers the investigation or informs any 
future actions  

6. Identify on which grounds the directed surveillance is necessary under section 
28(3) of RIPA  

 The ONLY grounds for carrying out Directed Surveillance activity is for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.  

 
 This can be used in the context of local authority prosecutions, or where an employee 

is suspected of committing a criminal offence e.g. fraud.  

7. Explain why this directed surveillance is necessary on the grounds you have 
identified (code chapter 3) 

 Outline what other methods may have been attempted in an effort to obtain the 
information and why it is now necessary to use surveillance.  

Page 78



Page 13 of 15 

Version 8 

 

8. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is 
unavoidable (code chapter 3) Describe precautions you will take to minimise 
collateral intrusion  

 Who else will be affected by the surveillance, what steps have been done to avoid this, 
and why it is unavoidable?  

9. Explain why the directed surveillance is proportionate to what it seeks to 
achieve. How intrusive might it be on the subject of surveillance or on others?  
And why is this intrusion outweighed by the need for surveillance in operational 
terms or can the evidence be obtained by any other means? [Code chapter 3]  

 If the Directed Surveillance is necessary, is it proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved by carrying it out?  This involves balancing the intrusiveness of the activity 
on the target and others who may be affected by it against the need for the activity in 
operational terms.  Reasons should be given why what is sought justifies the potential 
intrusion on the individual’s personal life and his privacy.  The activity will not be 
proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of the case or if the information 
which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.  

10. Confidential information (Code chapter 4)  

 Will information of a confidential nature be obtained (i.e. communications subject to 
legal privilege, or communications involving confidential personal information and 
confidential journalistic material) if so the appropriate level of authorisation must be 
obtained (see para 3.2 of the Policy).  

12. Authorising Officer’s Statement  

13. Authorising Officer’s comments  

 Must be completed outlining why it is proportionate and why he/she is satisfied that it 
is necessary.  

 

Page 79



Page 14 of 15 

Version 8 

 

Annex 4 - Guidance on completing Covert Human Intelligence forms  

Details of Application  

 
1. Authority Required  
 Fill in details of Authorising Officer (see paras 4.1 and 4.2 of the Policy)  
 
 Where a vulnerable individual or juvenile source is to be used, the authorisation MUST 

be given by the Head of Paid Service or, in their absence, the Corporate Director 
deputising for them.  

2.  Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation  

 Sufficient details so that the Authorising Officer has enough information to give 
Authority.  Outline what the operation is about and the other methods used already to 
obtain this information.  

3.  Describe in detail the purpose for which the source will be tasked or used 

 Give as much detail as possible as to what the use of the source is intended to 
achieve.  

4.  Describe in detail the proposed covert conduct of the source or how the source 
is to be used 

 Describe in detail the role of the source and the circumstances in which the source will 
be used  

5.  Identify on which grounds the conduct or the use of the source is necessary 
under Section 29(3) of RIPA 

 The ONLY grounds for carrying out Directed Surveillance activity is for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder  

 
  

6.  Explain why this conduct or use of the source is necessary on the grounds you 
have identified (Code chapter 3)  

 Outline what other methods may have been attempted in an effort to obtain the 
information and why it is now necessary to use surveillance for the investigation.  

7.  Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is 
unavoidable (Code chapter 3)  

 Who else will be affected, what steps have been done to avoid this, and why it is 
unavoidable?  

8.  Are there any particular sensitivities in the local community where the source is 
to be used?  Are similar activities being undertaken by other public authorities 
that could impact on the deployment of the source?  (see Code chapter 3)  

Page 80



Page 15 of 15 

Version 8 

 

 Ensure that other authorities such as the police or other council departments are not 
conducting a parallel investigation or other activity which might be disrupted.  

9. Provide an assessment of the risk to the source in carrying out the proposed 
conduct (see Code chapter 6)  

 A risk assessment will have to be carried out to establish the risks to that particular 
source, taking into account their strengths and weaknesses.  The person who has day 
to day responsibility for the source and their security (the ‘Handler’) and the person 
responsible for general oversight of the use made of the source (the ‘Controller’) 
should be involved in the risk assessment.  

10. Explain why this conduct or use of the source is proportionate to what it seeks 
to achieve. How intrusive might it be on the subject(s) of surveillance or on 
others?  How is this intrusion outweighed by the need for a source in 
operational terms, and could the evidence be obtained by any other means?  
[Code chapter 3]  

 If the use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source is necessary, is it proportionate to 
what is sought to be achieved by carrying it out?  This involves balancing the 
intrusiveness of the activity on the target and others who may be affected by it against 
the need for the activity in operational terms.  Reasons should be given why what is 
sought justifies the potential intrusion on the individual’s personal life and his privacy.  
The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of the case 
or if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less 
intrusive means.  

11. Confidential information (Code chapter 4). Indicate the likelihood of acquiring 
any confidential information 

 Will information of a confidential nature be obtained (i.e. communications subject to 
legal privilege, or communications involving confidential personal information and 
confidential journalistic material) if so the appropriate level of authorisation must be 
obtained (see para 3.2 of the Policy).  

13. Authorising Officer’s comments  

 Must be completed outlining why it is proportionate and why he/she is satisfied that it 
is necessary to use the source and that a proper risk assessment has been carried 
out. 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



From:   Roger Gough, Leader of the Council 
    
   Dylan Jeffrey, Cabinet Member for Communication and 

Democratic Services 
    
   Ben Watts, General Counsel  
 
To:    Governance and Audit Committee, 25 October 2023 
 
Subject: Governance Review  
 
Status: Unrestricted 
 
 

 
 

1. Introduction  
 
a) There are many aspects to good governance within a local authority. Done 

properly, they are mutually reinforcing. Over recent years, the Council has taken 
a number of steps to materially strengthen our key governance documentation 
and Members of the Governance and Audit Committee have been involved in 
those changes as part of the Committee’s own transformed role. 
 

b) Since 2018, we have been materially changing the way that we do the Annual 
Governance Statement. We are self-aware in relation to the need to continuously 
improve both the way in which the Council operates and the way in which we 
manage and monitor that. That is an ongoing challenge and the way in which the 
statement is drafted and the information collated has reflected the significantly 
challenging operating position for the Council. 

 
c) Members of the Committee will be aware that this year’s statement sets out an 

unprecedented programme of activity reflective of the commitment to 
continuously improve and to seek to address the challenges faced and key 
findings identified. Some of that programme was already planned and 
contemplated but the statement is the annual recognition of the steps needed to 
improve.  

 
d) Separately, Members will have seen the challenges experienced in other 

authorities that have not faced up to the need to continually review and refresh 
not only the core documentation but the behaviours and expectations on 
Members, Officers and external advisors operating within the Governance 
system. 

 
e) As part of the programme of activity for External Audit for 2023/24 and in 

pursuance of the desire and need for continuous improvement, it was agreed 
that Grant Thornton would undertake a governance review including some of the 
behaviours underpinning our arrangements. The outcome of that work is 
appended to this paper and the activities/actions in response are being included 
in this year’s Annual Governance Statement where they have not explicitly been 

Page 83

Agenda Item 10



referenced or delivered elsewhere. The AGS will be presented to the 
Governance and Audit Committee at their next meeting.  

 
f) Given the nature of the report and the applicability to all Members, it is 

recommended that the Committee receive an update on progress against the 
recommendations at the meeting of April 2024 and ahead of the annual report of 
the Governance and Audit Committee going forward to County Council next July. 

 
 
2. Progress since the Report 
 
a) Whilst the Council is not in the same position as some of those authorities that 

have had major governance failings, it is recognised that there have been 
warning signs in recent years that must be heeded around compliance with 
governance. Both the report and the AGS impress the importance of making 
changes to avoid making the same mistakes that characterised failure 
elsewhere. The Council recognises and accepts the importance of the right 
behaviours being needed to back up the written governance. As set out below, a 
range of actions and issues have already been undertaken with the remainder to 
be delivered over the course of the next six months to meaningfully engage and 
improve.  
 

b) It is recognised that some of these conversations and changes are difficult but 
are needed in order to protect the future of the Council. Further guidance has 
been shared with senior officers in relation to political conversations ensuring a 
greater demarcation of private political discussions. Cabinet Members Meeting 
ensures that it takes political discussions separately. The review of the terms of 
reference alongside the Corporate Board refresh will be introduced before the 
end of the calendar year as the new Cabinet beds in.   

 
c) The challenges mentioned in the paper and the AGS around clarity on the 

Council’s financial position and relative priorities have been specifically 
considered in the recent Cabinet papers for the meetings on 17 August and 5 
October 2023. 

 
d) Importantly, the language and approach to build Securing Kent’s Future 

responds correctly to the challenge in the review around the organisational need 
to respond as a single entity rather than in a silo/responsibility based way. The 
prioritisation of the best value obligations and presentation of that as part of the 
clear methodology for future plans is a definitive change of direction and follows 
reflection on the recommendations laid down in the report. As a further example 
of this, the way in which the priority given to the new models of care element of 
Framing Kent’s Future was presented in the Cabinet paper reflects a desire to 
ensure a whole council approach to such strategic thinking.  
 

e) Members have previously received a training session and then subsequently a 
paper in relation to the learning from other local authorities. Importantly, the 
training session included both Cabinet and Members of the Governance and 
Audit Committee. The paper was also circulated to Members of Corporate Board 
and the learning from other authorities has been reflected in Securing Kent’s 

Page 84



Future and the executive and officer discussions. Further analysis and activity 
will be needed given the increasing number of authorities facing challenge. 

 
f) Progress has been made in relation to the issues around Member development 

with a paper and discussion at Selection and Member Services Committee on 19 
October 2023. The challenges and opportunities around Member development 
have been noted and understood.  

 
g) Over the summer, a survey of all Members was carried out to understand needs 

and inform the future design of training.    
 

h) The following first tranche of training will pick up on identified learning needs and 
the lessons learned from prior audit reports, the AGS and the External Audit 
report: 

 
i. Training on Executive Decisions for Cabinet Members 
ii. Media/Reputation Training for Executive Members, Chairman 

and Opposition Group Leaders 
iii. Democratic Services Focussed Training including use of 

Mod.gov systems 
iv. Training in chairing meetings 
v. Priority on training identified in the AGS 
vi. Member Awareness Sessions on the Armed Forces Covenant 

and Corporate Parenting 
vii. Personal Safety 
viii. Ordinary Committee Training – Regulation Committee, etc. 

 
i) The Member Development Sub-Committee has recommended a challenging 

new programme of learning and development and subject to the comments of 
Selection and Member Services Committee will finalise a delivery plan which will 
commence from January 2024 and be shared with all Members. 
 

j) Changes have been made to the Commissioning arrangements within the 
Council which reflect the key concerns raised, with further work being 
undertaken as that new model beds down. Importantly, since the report, the 
Council has finished the planned work on Spending the Council’s Money which 
has been approved and is now being widely communicated. This addresses 
some of the procurement issues picked up in the report and clarifies 
accountabilities and responsibilities. 

 
k) The new Commercial team with responsibility for procurement are prioritising the 

Contracts Register and Contracts Pipeline which will form part of earlier 
information sets available in real time to Members and Officers. This will also 
support greater commercial transparency in supporting FOI queries. Since the 
report, work has been completed on the fully searchable disclosure logs for FOI 
(Kent County Council Disclosure Log (icasework.com)) meaning that prior FOI 
responses can be accessed via the Council’s website. 

 
l) The comment on FOI is noted and improvement plans are being developed on 

FOI and the accountability for timely response is being limited to relevant senior 
officers within directorates. A Member deep dive is taking place on FOI as part of 

Page 85

https://kccportal.icasework.com/servlet/servlets.appSearch;jsessionid=DC99AB5F26FDE9D70471FDB73F35F5E5?auth=0&public=true&db=CfARENrVaIw%3D&drilldown=false&byKeyword=true&max=20&title=Kent+County+Council+Disclosure+Log&csrfhash=ZVVKinc67Im9DbEG4EoljwGmpuE6RCck79Ef71S-sZrGhpk80iMOGNSWGl-VwL5Q_99YTGFoAx0VI_0gF0wzlQ4lOlbD0QfhWVrZUr6wuPHKFPQxZyylMxwBDAx445QoEWOSKI7mZrexhBRcUv0u7WjLD4z8sD9xnUsZuu2oHg1EfSMU5GDS7HDMEimr0ciDBpqqmpSkTCftnhKKw9lkCg%3D%3D.oHbl9yZ05tescaBWCPhEHA%3D%3D%7E%21


the improvement activities and system improvements will mean that the chasing 
is done by a computer to leave the limited strategic resource available to advise 
on difficult queries around exemptions. 

 
m) Members will be kept apprised of all the relevant updates and subject to the 

views of the Committee this can be tracked in real time.  
 

 
3. Future Progress and Overview  
 
a) It is intended that the activities and future actions that have been designed to 

respond to the recommendations will be included as part of the AGS and 
tracked through that mechanism. 

 
b) However, it is recognised that this is an important report which has elements 

that are also about change in the way in which all Members engage with their 
role, residents and the Council’s governance. The activities include a paper and 
discussion at other non-executive Committees as well as forthcoming changes 
to the Constitution which will go to County Council in December.  

 
c) Governance and Audit Committee is the appropriate Committee to reflect on 

the way in which the Council has taken the recommendations forwards, 
particularly given they bring responsibilities for all Members. It is therefore 
suggested that a further report be brought to Governance and Audit Committee 
in April to demonstrate the activities undertaken. This will provide an 
opportunity for the Committee to assure themselves of the actions taken but 
also to consider the behavioural changes needed as set out by the report 
across the whole Council before the Committee’s annual report to the County 
Council next July.   

 
4. Recommendations  
 
The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to: 
 

a) NOTE the report and Governance Review by External Audit 
 

b) NOTE that a further report be brought to the Governance and Audit 
Committee in April 2024 for assurance. 
 

c) NOTE the presentation of the Annual Governance Statement at the next 
meeting and the inclusion of relevant sections of the report in the statement.   

 
 
5. Background Documents 
 
None. 
 
6. Report Author and Relevant Director  
Ben Watts, General Counsel  
03000 416814  
benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk 

Page 86

mailto:benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk


 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 89



Commercial in confidence

P
age 90



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 91



Commercial in confidence

P
age 92



Commercial in confidence

P
age 93



Commercial in confidence

P
age 94



Commercial in confidence

P
age 95



Commercial in confidence

P
age 96



Commercial in confidence

P
age 97



Commercial in confidence

P
age 98



Commercial in confidence

P
age 99



Commercial in confidence

P
age 100



Commercial in confidence

P
age 101



Commercial in confidence

P
age 102



Commercial in confidence

P
age 103



P
age 104


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2023
	5 Internal Audit Progress Report - Procurement & Contract Extension
	Appendix A - Procurement and Contract Extensions Executive Summaries
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3


	6 Counter Fraud Progress Report
	8 Annual Customer Feedback Report 2022/23
	Appendix B - Ombudsman's Annual Letter

	9 Covert Enforcement Techniques Activity 2022-23
	Appendix - KCC Covert Investigatory Techniques Policy

	10 External Audit Governance Review
	Kent County Council Governance Report Report
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: 1. Executive summary
	Slide 4: 1. Executive summary (continued)
	Slide 5: 2. Report
	Slide 6: 3.1 Foundations of good governance:  Independence
	Slide 7: 3.2 Foundations of good governance: Transparency
	Slide 8: 3.3 Foundations of good governance Accountability (1)
	Slide 9: 3.3 Foundations of good governance: Accountability (2)
	Slide 10: 3.4 Foundations of good governance: Integrity
	Slide 11: 3.5 Foundations of good governance:  Clarity of purpose
	Slide 12: 3.6 Foundations of good governance: Effectiveness (1)
	Slide 13: 3.6 Foundations of good governance: Effectiveness (2)
	Slide 14: 4. Recommendations: Structures and Systems
	Slide 15: 4. Recommendations: Systems and Behaviours
	Slide 16



